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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of North Mining Shares
Company Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries
referred to as the “Group”). It is with great pride and appreciation that
| present the Chairman’s Statement for the year ended 31 December
2024, a period marked by resilience, operational progress, and strategic
advancement across our mining operation and chemical operation.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Mining Operation

After almost 3 years suspension due to renewing the major Mining
Licence and Safety Production Licence, | am pleased to announce that
full-scale mining operations resumed in October 2024 at our key site
in Shaanxi Province Luo Nan Xian. This milestone reflects the dedication
and hard work of our team, as well as our commitment to meeting both
regulatory standards and community expectations.

Since resuming production, we have implemented enhanced safety
protocols, upgraded equipment, and optimized processes to ensure
operational efficiency and environmental compliance. Early production
indicators are promising, and we are confident that output will return to or
exceed pre-suspension levels in the coming quarters.

Performance of Mining Operation

Despite the challenges, our mining operation demonstrated resilience. Our
molybdenum concentrate grades remained consistent, and our strategic
focus on cost control and process improvements has positioned us for a
strong rebound. We continue to explore new opportunities for expansion
and modernizing our mining assets with advanced technologies to ensure
long-term sustainability.

Chemical Operation

In our chemical operation, we achieved significant strides in cost
optimisation without compromising on quality or safety. Through a
combination of process automation, raw material efficiency, and strategic
sourcing, we reduced operating expenses across several product lines.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

We also completed a comprehensive review of our supply chain and
internal workflows, resulting in more agile production planning and better
inventory management. These measures have already contributed to
improved margins and will lay a solid foundation for future scalability.

Additionally, we continue to explore opportunities to expand our chemical
product offerings in high-demand sectors, reinforcing the division’s role
as a robust contributor to the Group’s overall performance.

Outlook and Strategic Priorities
Looking ahead, our strategic focus remains centered on:

1) Sustaining safe and efficient mining production
2) Expanding our chemical portfolio while maintaining cost discipline

3) Investing in innovation, automation, and ESG initiatives
4) Strengthening our financial and operational resilience

We are confident that the steps we have taken this year — both in resuming
operation and optimizing processes — will drive long-term value for our
shareholders and stakeholders.

Appreciation

On behalf of the Board, | extend my sincere appreciation to our
employees, partners, communities, and shareholders for their steadfast
support during a year of transition and transformation. Your confidence
fuels our commitment to excellence.

Together, we move forward — stronger, leaner, and better prepared for the
opportunities ahead.

On behalf of the Board

Yang Ying Min
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BERBNWR DM

OVERALL FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded a
revenue of approximately HK$1,110,226,000 from continuing operations,
representing a decrease of approximately 27.61% as compared with last
corresponding year of approximately HK$1,533,714,000 from continuing
operations. The revenue was mainly attribute to the Group’s chemical
trading operation and mining operation. Such decrease was mainly
attribute to due to the decrease in revenue from Group’s chemical trading
operation as compared to last corresponding year.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded a loss
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately HK$68,486,000
(2023: loss of approximately HK$1,632,535,000), representing a decrease
in loss of approximately 95.8% as compared with last corresponding year.
Such decrease in loss for the year ended 31 December 2024 was mainly
due to the loss on debt restructuring of approximately HK$1,343,925,000
only occurred for the year ended 31 December 2023.

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

The Auditor expressed a disclaimer of opinion in the independent
auditor’s report on the 2024 Financial Statements (the “Independent
Auditor’s Report”). As stated in the “Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion”
section in the Independent Auditor’s Report, the basis for the Auditor
to express a disclaimer of opinion was multiple fundamental uncertainty
related to going concern. The Board and the audit committee of the
Board have reviewed and agreed with the disclaimer of opinion on the
Independent Auditor’s Report.

DETAILS OF DISCLAIMER OF OPINION AND
THEIR ACTUAL OR POTENTIAL IMPACT ON THE

COMPANY’S FINANCIAL POSITION

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately HK$249,235,000 during
the year ended 31 December 2024 and, as of that date, the Group had
net current liabilities and net liabilities of approximately HK$1,488,805,000
and HK$570,868,000 respectively. As at 31 December 2024, the Group
had bank loans and other borrowings of HK$426,731,000, of which
HK$409,079,000 and HK$17,652,000 were recorded under current
liabilities and non-current liabilities respectively. As at 31 December 2024,
the Group had bank balances totalling HK$15,247,000.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BERBNWR D

In the Auditor’s point, although the cost control of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024 has made significant progress compared
with the year ended 31 December 2023, it cannot bring significant
improvements to the group’s financial position. The Auditor was unable
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the cost control
strategy will provide enough cash flow for the Group to address the loss
for the year ended 31 December 2024 and coming year 2025.

The Auditor was unable to obtain sufficient audit evidence regarding the
Group can obtain funds from potential investors in order to address the
Group'’s liquidity position and support the Group’s operations.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern, adjustments
would have to be made to the consolidated financial statements to adjust
the value of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide
for any further liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities,
respectively. The effect of these adjustments has not been reflected in the
consolidated financial statements contained in this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal profit generation activities of the Group are: (i) mining
operations — exploitation and exploration of mineral resources; (i) chemical
trading operations — manufacturing and sale of chemical products; and (jii)
aluminium metal trading operations — sale of aluminium plates. An analysis
of each of these business segments is presented below:

Mining Operations — Exploitation and Exploration of

Mineral Resources

Molybdenum Mine

The Group’s mining operation mainly includes the exploitation, exploration
and production of molybdenum concentrate in the PRC. Our molybdenum
concentrate was produced by the molybdenum mine operated by
Shaanxi Province Luo Nan Xian Jiu Long Kuang Ye Company Limited
(“diu Long Kuang Ye”), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group. The
grading of molybdenum concentrate produced by our molybdenum mine
was approximately 45%-50%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BERBNWR DM

The mining licence has been successfully renewed and the renewed
licence, which is valid up to 22 February 2034, has been granted by the
Ministry of Natural Resources of the PRC and issued to the Company on
10 February 2023. The mining licence is the major licence required for the
Group to conduct its mining activities of its molybdenum mine.

The Safety Production Licence has been successfully renewed and
the renewed Safety Production Licence, which is valid up to 17
October 2027, has been granted by the Shaanxi Provincial Emergency
Management Department of PRC and issued to the Group on 18 October
2024. The Safety Production Licence is the major licence required for the
Group to conduct its mining activities of its molybdenum mine. Due to
obtain of the Safety Production Licence, mining operation of the Group is
able to resume full operation.

During the year under review, the volume of molybdenum concentrate
sold was about 714 tonnes (2023: Nil),
molybdenum concentrate was approximately 45%-

whereas the grade of
50%. The average
selling price of molybdenum concentrate was approximately HK$135,710
per tonne. During the year under review, the mining operation contributed
a revenue of approximately HK$116,378,000 to the Group, of which
approximately HK$105,052,000 was contributed by sales of molybdenum
concentrate and approximately HK$11,326,000 was contributed by sales
of sulfuric acid and iron concentrate. Gross profit was approximately
HK$54,745,000 and the gross profit margin was 47.04%. During the year,
the Group recognised an amortisation of mining rights of approximately
HK$13,086,000.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BERBNWR D

Major assets in mining operation

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying value of the major assets included
in the Group’s mining operation were property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and mining rights associated with the Group’s
molybdenum mine of approximately HK$414,527,678, HK$2,492,000
and HK$526,860,000 respectively. At the end of the reporting period,
the Group carried out impairment assessment to assess whether the
recoverable amounts of the assets were below the carrying amount.

For the purpose of impairment testing, the Directors hired an independent
professional valuation firm to assess the value in use of the Group’s
mining operation on yearly basis. The basis for assessing the value in use
was based on Discount Cash Flow (“DCF”) method. In the opinion of the
Directors, the adoption of DCF method is the best to reflect the value
in use of the Group’s mining operation. During the year under review,
there was no change in the valuation method used and the Directors
have consensus to adopt a consistent valuation methodology and
accounting policy in accounting for such mining operation over time given
that no fundamental changes in the mining industry and such external
environment will occur.

Base on the result of impairment assessment of the value in use of
Mining operation, there were impairment losses of the property, plant and
equipment, the right-of-use assets and the mining rights of approximately
HK$147,503,000, HK$1,020,000 and HK$215,715,000 respectively
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: the impairment losses of
approximately HK$30,818,000, HK$Nil and HK$51,564,000 respectively).

RBEEXNETEESE
RZB-_WME+-_A=+—H » X&EEHEE
EB e EEEREAESEBRAENYE
MELZE FTHREBEEERRERE KO
B9 Bl & #1414,527,6787 7t + 2,492,000/ 7T
12526,860,0008 7T © MG EAR « KEEE
TARETHUNIHEENTRESEREEE
REREE °

RREAANET  EFERBUEEGHER
BARFEEAEFHAEERBEER 2ERE
B FEEREEZEEREARBARER
E(HBARERE]) - EFRB - KW
MRBAEREEIRERRAEERBER 2
EREHR ROEOBEFE - MAEAMBEZEL
BEY MEF-—HEAE ZEIBEBER
ERNSRERTEHRENES - #WLZ
REXBRMNEH R 2HEEDEESF K

e

ﬁi o

BEREXEBEABENRETHER @ &
E-E-NEF+-A=Z+—ALFE - BE -
WERSZE CRAREERRKEBEENREE
& 18 9 Bl 4 A147,503,000% 7T+ 1,020,000
7 7T ]&215,715,0008 T (ZEZ =4 : HE
5 18 5 5 49 A30,818,000% 7t + T T &
51,564,000/ 7T) °

IHBEBRGBERADR 2024 F 9



Management Discussion and Analysis

BERBNWR DM

Chemical trading operations

The Group’s chemical trading operations mainly includes manufacturing
and sale of chemical products in the PRC. Our chemical products
were produced by Anhui Tongxin New Material Technology Company
Limited, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. During the
year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s revenue generated from
chemical trading operation was approximately HK$993,830,000 (2023:
approximately HK$1,533,714,000).

Major assets in chemical trading operation

As at 31 December 2024, the major assets included in the Group’s
chemical trading operation were property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets of total approximately HK$59,832,000 and HK$16,632,000
respectively. At the end of the reporting period, the Group carried out
impairment assessment to assess whether the recoverable amounts of
the assets were below the carrying amount.

For the purpose of impairment testing, the Directors hired an independent
professional valuation firm to assess the value in use of the Group’s
chemical operation on yearly basis. The basis for assessing the value
in use was based on DCF method. In the opinion of the Directors,
the adoption of DCF method is the best to reflect the value in use of
the Group’s chemical operation. During the year under review, there
was no change in the valuation method used and the Directors have
consensus to adopt a consistent valuation methodology and accounting
policy in accounting for such chemical operation over time given that
no fundamental changes in the mining industry and such external
environment will occur.

Base on result of the impairment assessment of the value in use, no
impairment loss was recognised for the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: an impairment loss on property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets of approximately HK$790,000 and HK$149,000 respectively).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BERBNWR D

Aluminum metal trading operations

The Group established a new business during the year ended 31
December 2024, the overall economic landscape of the PRC’s aluminum
metal trading industry is very competitive, as a new competitor in the
market, the Group faced pressure on source of customers and suppliers
and the market share of business.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group revenue generated from aluminum
metal trading operation was approximately HK$18,000. The Group will
continue to expand aluminum metal trading operation under limited
resources and pressure in order to strive for position in the markets.

Impairment assessment — Mining operation and

Chemical trading operation

Profit/Cash flow forecasts were made by the management for mining
operation and chemical trading operation’s cash-generating units
(“CGUs") respectively to consider whether there are any indications
for impairment on the individual assets of the Group. Indications for
impairment would include internal source of information and external
source of information: (a) whether the group of CGUSs is be loss-making as
a whole for the financial year that the economic performance of an asset
is, or will be, worse than expected; (b) significant changes with an adverse
effect on the entity have taken place during the period, or will take place
in the near future, in the economic or legal environment in which the entity
operates or in the market to which an asset is dedicated or in the extent
to which, or manner in which, an asset is used or is expected to be used;
(c) evidence is available of obsolescence or physical damage of an asset;
and (d) whether there are any extenuating circumstances which would
require the management to perform an impairment assessment.

The independent valuation expert performed impairment assessment
of the carrying amounts of each CGUs as at 31 December 2024 by
estimating their value in use through the management’s forecasts. The
calculation of value in use of the relevant assets subjected to impairment
testing are by reference to the present value of the estimated future cash
flows expected to derive from the assets.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BERBNWR DM

Mining operation

The recoverable amount of mining CGU was determined based on value
in use calculation. The key assumptions for the value in use calculation
were those regarding the discount rate and growth in revenue and direct
costs during the year. Management estimated the pre-tax discount rate
of 15.5% (2023: 16%) that reflect current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risk specific to the CGU. Changes in selling price
and direct costs were based on past experience and expectations of
changes in the market.

The value in use calculation was derived from cash flow projection based
on the most recent financial budgets for the next 5 years approved
by management. Cash flows beyond the 5-year period had been
extrapolated using a steady growth rate of 1.5% (2023: 1%) per annum.

Base on the result of impairment assessment of the value in use of
Mining operation, there were impairment losses of the property, plant and
equipment, the right-of-use assets and the mining rights of approximately
HK$147,503,000, HK$1,020,000 and HK$215,715,000 respectively
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: the impairment losses of
approximately HK$30,818,000, HK$Nil and HK$51,564,000 respectively).

The following table indicates the approximate change in the recoverable
amount of the mining operation CGU for the year ended 31 December
2024 in response to reasonably possible changes in the assumptions
used in calculation.
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Increase/(decrease) Effect on

in the assumption recoverable amount

A e £ HEY

BB M, L) -2

(HK$°000)

(F#&x)
Pre-tax discount rate B 0 B AL 3R & 0.5% (16,139)
Pre-tax discount rate B B Al B 3R X (0.5%) 17,073
Growth rate beyond the five year period hAFHHBERE 0.5% 25,056
Growth rate beyond the five year period hAEHRERE (0.5%) (23,666)
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Chemical trading operation

The recoverable amount of chemical trading CGU was determined
based on value in use calculation. The key assumptions for the value in
use calculation were those regarding the discount rate and growth in
revenue and direct costs during the year. Management estimated the
pre-tax discount rate of 13% (2023: 13%) that reflect current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risk specific to the CGU.
Changes in selling price and direct costs were based on past experience
and expectations of changes in the market.

The value in use calculation was derived from cash flow projection based
on the most recent financial budgets for the next 5 years approved
by management. Cash flows beyond the 5-year period had been
extrapolated using a steady growth rate of 2% (2023: 4%) per annum.

Base on the result of impairment assessment of the value in use of
Chemical trading operation, no impairment loss was recognised for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: the impairment losses of property,
plant and equipment and the right-of-use assets of approximately
HK$790,000 and HK$149,000 respectively).
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The following table indicates the approximate change in the recoverable THRBREBEEZE T _MNF+_HF=+—H1t
amount of the mining operation CGU for the year ended 31 December F E HREXKIE & F EBA A RESERE
2024 in response to reasonably possible changes in the assumptions st EFTABREKZAEAEESMEE ZHLH
used in calculation. 28 o
2024
—E-NF
Increase/(decrease) Effect on
in the assumption recoverable amount
HAarymE £ ER
BEEM G D) =
(HK$°000)
(F#Ex)
Pre-tax discount rate B 5 B AL 3R = 0.5% (2,580)
Pre-tax discount rate B 5 B AL 38 & (0.5%) 2,753
Growth rate beyond the five year period hFHBIER X 0.5% 2,478
Growth rate beyond the five year period hEHEBEEBRR (0.5%) (2,643)
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Discontinued operations

On 10 December 2015, the Group borrowed a loan from an independent
creditor of RMB200,000,000 with annual interest rate at 10% and
repayable in two years. The loan was secured by () the entire shares
of the Group’s non-wholly owned subsidiary, namely Shaanxi Luoyuan
Trading Co., Limited (“Shaanxi Luoyuan”), which own 60% equity
interests in Luo Nan Xian Da Qin Jia Mining Company Limited (“Da
Qin Jia Mining”) (“Deemed Disposal Group”); and (ii) the corporate
guarantee provided by a subsidiary of the Group. The major asset of the
Deemed Disposal Group is an exploration rights of a Potassium Feldspar
Mine located in Shaanxi, the PRC, which had been expired in prior years.
The Group had already made full provision of the exploration rights when
expired.

Due to the liquidity position of the Group, the Group was unable to settle
the loan. The creditor then applied a to The Fourth Intermediate People’s
Court of Beijing (the “Court”) to go through an auction process to sale the
entire of equity interests of the Deemed Disposal Group to recover the
debts owned by the Group (“Auction”).

The Court granted the permission for the auction request and during the
year ended 31 December 2024, an independent third party (the “Bidder”)
completed the auction process and obtained the entire equity interests of
the Deemed Disposal Group, which was confirmed by the Court.

The directors of the Company obtained a legal advice and, in the
opinion that, upon the completion of the Auction which was approved
by the Court, the Group did not have control over the Deemed Disposal
Group and the corporate guarantee provided by the non-wholly owned
subsidiary was released.
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PROSPECTS
As we enter 2025, our Group is striving to build resilience in a time of
uncertainty.

The economic outlook remains uncertain in 2025. Global economies
will continue to face multiple macroeconomic headwinds, including
geopolitical uncertainties, inflation and tightened financial conditions.
Many industries are still plagued by supply chain issues that emerged
in recent years. Ongoing inflation and subdued economic growth are
expected. In order to combat this, our Group aims to improve our
resilience in through strategic management, development and expansion
of our two core businesses as well as building protective measures into
supply chains to deal with shortages and rising business costs.

For mining operation, the Group has successful renewed the mining
licence of molybdenum mine and will further invest in and upgrade the
mining operation machine system in production to improve the production
efficiency, safety and environmental level. For chemical operation,
through research and development and additional production facilities,
we continue to improve our product quality and increase our product
competitiveness.

The Group will continue to be receptive to the market’s views candidly
and humbly. It will endeavor to maintain effective communication with
stakeholders. As a way to gauge capital markets’ perception of the
Group, we will continue to improve the quality of investor relations
management and will ponder on investors’ concerns and advices in
order to further enhance the Group’s operating management and
cooperate governance. The investor relations department will maintain
professionalism at its work so that capital markets will be able to gain a
thorough understanding of the Group’s business. This will help unlock the
potential investment value and contribute to the long term and healthy
development of the Group.
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Molybdenum market

The operation environment of China’s steel industry is the key factor
that affects the development of the country’s molybdenum market. As
required by China’s environmental protection policy and supply-side
reform policy, steel factories have no alternative but to transform and shift
to produce high quality special steel. Meanwhile, the normalization of fall/
winter production restriction will further accelerate the enhancement and
reconstruction of the steel industry, there are still ample room to increase
the production of stainless steel and high strength steel. All the factors
stated above will further drive up the demand for molybdenum, and it was
expected that the demand for molybdenum in China will keep increasing.
[t was expected that the molybdenum market would continue to improve
in 2025.

The Group will make every endeavor to keep abreast of the changing
market conditions, to proactively identify investment opportunities and
expand its mineral resources in order to broaden the revenue base of the
Group, enhance its future financial performance and profitability, and fine
tune its business strategies when appropriate. Moreover, the Group is
seeking for further operating efficiency for its business. We are confident
in the future prospect and committed to the continuous growth of the
Company.

Chemical trading market

Chemical market in China has stringent regulatory requirements for safety
and environmental protection, which have inevitably created short-term
operation pressure on the chemicals manufacturing industry. However,
corporate with competitive advantage on environmental protection will
eventually capture the opportunities emerged in an operation environment
with sound regulation. The Group will continue to invest on safety and
environmental protection, impose stringent control over its costs, enhance
its production efficiency, and will formulate effective marketing strategy
to meeting the challenges of increasing competition in the market. The
Group will make every endeavor to keep abreast of the challenging market
conditions, proactively identify investment opportunities and expand its
mineral resources in order to broaden the revenue base of the Group,
enhance its future financial performance and profitability, and fine tune its
business strategies when the Directors of the Company think appropriate.
Moreover, the Group is seeking for further operating efficiency across the
business. We are confident in the future and committed to continuous
growth of the Company.

16 North Mining Shares Company Limited Annual Report 2024

™S

BAMETEETHREYEBEANBTSESD
MR - ETERARREGAREBRRNIE
BT WEAGTIANER - W EEFHE
B MKEFTERLERESE S HDNE
ENEXEBARAR  THMMS MM E
ENMBEBRANREANER  LRWERSE
—HHUBHENFR - BABEARETKELRS
BERM BH_FT_RHF ETEHHEE
BRI -

AEFBRBBIRERTRES - BHREFER
EHRE BAEBEERER BUAAMEASK
B EER  RAERKRYBRRERAZF
BN TRABERBHRARLEHERE -
BA - AKRBESRE-FRAXRKHNESL
ME - BRPHYRKFAFREBEL » LEN
REEARAFHEER -

tEREETS

TECEmMSHETEBLE2RREERE -
BRI TREXTREHREES - A
EREFEENERRRET  ERRABRFED
MEEREERFEREH - AEBESES
BREZZRR > BRBESKNE  BELE
M o B E A R T ISR AN A
MHEBEFRE - AEEBHIRERT R
B EERERERERSE  BRHEEBEEZRR -
REUMBAAEERAER  RAERKHB
RARBNEN  UNARREZTARAE
REMAEERBERE - I AEEE
SRE-FPRAEBHELREX - HMAHR
RIEMED » ABAOMEERRBRFEER -



Management Discussion and Analysis

BERBNWR D

EQUITY TRANSFER

On 28 March 2024, the Company completed the acquisition of 51%
equity interests in Foshan Chuangwanli Resource Technology Co.,
Limited (“Foshan”), a company established in the PRC. The principal
activities of Foshan were in research and development and sales of non-
ferrous metals. The acquisition of Foshan involved no consideration as the
Group aimed to cooperate with Foshan for developing the market of non-
ferrous metals through their platform.

In view of recent economy downturn and the overall economic landscape
of the PRC’s non-ferrous metal industry is very competitive, as a new
competitor in the market, the Group faced pressure on financing to
develop the non-ferrous metal business. After careful consideration
by the board of directors of the Company, in particular, the Group’s
liquidity position, the Group decided not to develop the non-ferrous
metal industry and therefore, the Group cancelled the acquisition and
transfer the equity interests of Foshan back to the vendor, Mr. Chen, at
zero consideration. The equity transfer was completed on 29 July 2024.
Since the Group’s cooperation with Foshan was not materialised, and
the amount of expenses incurred during this period was immaterial, the
board of directors of the Company did not consolidate Foshan’s financial
information to the audited condensed consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2024.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated
cash flow and proceeds from suitable source of funding. During the year
ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded an increase in cash and
cash equivalents from approximately HK$5,941,000 as at 31 December
2023 to approximately HK$15,247,000 as at 31 December 2024. As at
31 December 2024, the Group had outstanding bank loans and other
borrowings at the amount of approximately HK$426,731,000 (2023:
approximately HK$696,948,000).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s current ratio was approximately
0.24 (20283: approximately 0.17). The increase in current ratio was mainly
due to the resumption production of mining operation, making positive
impact of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s debt to equity ratio was
approximately 48.72 (2023: approximately deficit 52.44). The increase
in debt to equity ratio was mainly due to release a debt of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2024. The ratio was calculated by
dividing the total liabilities of approximately HK$2,109,133,000 (2023:
approximately HK$2,096,113,000) by equity attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$43,287,000 (2023: approximately deficit
HK$39,972,000). It is confident that the Group would have adequate
financial resources to satisfy full repayment of the current liabilities.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND TREASURY POLICIES

Capital Structure

The Group’s capital structure as at 31 December 2024 mainly comprised
of current assets of approximately HK$464,328,000 (2023: approximately
HK$321,732,000), current liabilities of approximately HK$1,953,133,000
(20283: approximately HK$1,842,120,000) and equity attributable to
owners of the Company of approximately HK$43,287,000 (2023:
approximately deficit HK$39,972,000). Current assets mainly comprised
of (i) cash and cash equivalents of approximately HK$15,247,000
(2023: approximately HK$5,941,000); (ii) inventories of approximately
HK$317,949,000 (2023: approximately HK$156,176,000); (i) Trade and
bill receivables of approximately HK$45,145,000 (2023: approximately
HK$116,001,000) and (iv) prepayments, deposits and other receivables
of approximately HK$85,987,000 (2023: approximately HK$43,614,000).
Current liabilities mainly comprised of (i) bank loans and other
borrowings of approximately HK$409,079,000 (2023: approximately
HK$669,415,000); (ii) trade and bill payables of approximately
HK$264,698,000 (2023: approximately HK$373,998,000); and (iii) other
payables and accruals of approximately HK$720,692,000 (including
interest payables) (2023: approximately HK$682,241,000).

Treasury Policies

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the business activities of the
Group were mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. It
is not considered that the Group is significantly exposed to any foreign
currency exchange risk. It is the Group’s treasury policy to manage its
foreign currency exposure whenever such financial impact is material to
the Group. For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group
did not employ any financial instruments for hedging purpose and was
not engaged in foreign currency speculative activities.
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BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWING AND
CHARGES OF GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had bank loans and other
borrowings in current liabilities and non-current liabilities amounted to
approximately HK$426,731,000 (2023: HK$696,948,000). As at 31
December 2024, the Group’s interest bearing bank loans and other
borrowings were carried at effective interest rates from 6.09% to 15% per
annum and were secured by (i) guarantees from a subsidiary of the Group
and the subsidiary’s minority shareholders; (i) pledged property, plant
and equipment; (iii) pledged prepaid land lease; and (iv) pledged equity of
subsidiaries.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Reference to the announcement is made on 3 January 2025, the
Company, t /& & 22 & % & R 2 & (Shanghai Cheng Long Shiyie
Company Limited), A #2 1% & (£ /&) B B 2 7 (Jiulong Investment
(Shanghai) Company Limited) and _E /8 §4 B 1> % & 12 A R 2 7] (Shanghai
MingShen Corporate Management Company Limited), being wholly
owned subsidiaries of the Company in the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC”), and & # [& s ¥7 & ¥t B £ A BR 2 7] (Anhui Tongxin New
Material Technology Company Limited) (“Tongxin”), being a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company in the PRC, have received a civil
complaint filed with the Shanghai Financial Court by + /& & E & E &
2 A R 2 7 (Shanghai Dingku Asset Management Company Limited)
(the “Plaintiff’) and a notice to produce evidence issued by the Shanghai
Financial Court, and recently Shanghai Financial Court held an interview
on 15 January 2025 at 9:00 a.m, and formally applied for this case under
the proceedings (2024) JE74 K #17275%, with the hearing held before the
Shanghai Financial Court on 2 April 2025 at 9:00 a.m. The subject matter
relates to the failure to settle an indebted of the principal of RMB300
million together with outstanding interest of approximately RMB337 million
being the alleged outstanding amount owed by Tongxin to the Plaintiff
under a loan agreement entered into between Tongxin and the Plaintiff on
4 January 2018.
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The Group is currently seeking legal advice and intends to dispute
its liability. As the litigation proceedings are still in early stage, the
Group will closely monitor the effects and impact of this litigation on
the Group.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION

POLICY

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed 678 full time employees
(2023: 659 employees). Employees’ remuneration packages are generally
structured by reference to market norms, individual qualifications, relevant
experience and performance.

DIVIDEND

No dividend is recommended for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed
or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2024.

CHANGE IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this
report, the following changes in the composition of the Board and Board
committees took place:

Ms. Qian Si Qun has been appointed as an executive director with effect
from 28 March 2025.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yang Ying Min (“Mr. Yang”), aged 56, was appointed as an
Executive Director of the Company on 25 August 2014 and was
subsequently appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
on 22 September in the same year. He was appointed as the Chairman
of the Board of the Company on 4 January 2016. Mr. Yang graduated
from Peoples Public Security University of China with a Bachelor of
Laws LL.B.. After graduation, he worked in Xian Municipal government,
Shaanxi Province, China. In 2010, he joined Shaanxi Province Luo Nan
Xian Jiu Long Kuang Ye Company Limited (“Jiu Long Kuang Ye”), the
Company’s subsidiary, as deputy managing director. In 2012, he was
appointed as chairman of Jiu Long Kuang Ye. Mr. Yang has extensive
experience in management and legal affairs relevant to mining industry.

Mr. Qian Yi Dong (“Mr. Qian”), aged 40, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 15 March 2011 and was then appointed as
the Deputy Chairman of the Board on 21 April 2011. He is a member of
the Remuneration Committee. He is also currently a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Qian graduated from Beijing Normal
University Zhuhai majored in electronic commerce.

Mr. Shen Jian, aged 39, was appointed as an Executive Director of the
Company on 9 November 2021. Mr. Shen Jian obtained a bachelor’s
degree in Supply Chain Management with Logistics from Shanghai
Maritime University in 2008. He has over 10 years’ extensive experience
in international trade and logistics management services.

Mr. Huang Zhidan (“Mr. Huang”), aged 58, postgraduate degree in
economic management from GuangDong Academy of Social Sciences in
2002, he has in-depth knowledge and experience in corporate finance.
He is the board chairman of SFund International Investment Fund
Management Limited (“SFund International”) and the chief operational
officerof EM E X% & HE & & 12 A R 2 7 (Guangzhou Industrial
Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd*), the substantial shareholder of
SFund International, both since September 2021. SFund International was
one of the creditors under the scheme of arrangement of the Company
which would become a shareholder of the Company pursuant to the
terms of the scheme of arrangement.
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Prior to joining SFund International, Mr. Huang was a party committee
member and vice president of China Zheshang Bank Guangzhou Branch
from June 2015 to September 2020. From July 2022 to July 2023, Mr.
Huang worked as an executive director for Magnus Concordia Group
Limited (Stock Code: 1172).

Ms. Qian Si Qun (“Ms. Qian”), aged 29, was appointed as an executive
director with effective from 28 March 2025. She has obtained a Bachelor
of Accounting and Finance from University of Leicester, UK and a Master
of Accounting from University of Cambridge, UK. She holds a registered
ESG Analyst certificate which is issued by China Science and Technology
Finance Promotion Association. She has extensive experience in
Economic, Social and Governance (“ESG”) and investment analysis
services. She has served as the Cofounder of Chamwion Technology
Limited since February 2023, providing ESG advisory and sustainability
strategy consulting to listed companies across a range of industries,
including but not limited to technology, manufacturing and energy, in both
mainland China and international markets. She is also actively involving in
Al-driven transformation and strategic planning initiatives.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Shek Man Ho (“Mr. Shek”), aged 40, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company on 29 September
2023. He was appointed as the chairman of each of the Audit Committee
and the Financial Reporting Committee, and a member of the Corporate
Governance Committee respectively since 29 September 2023. Mr. Shek
has obtained a Bachelor of Business Administration in Accounting from
the Hong Kong Metropolitan University in 2009. He is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

From September 2020 to February 2022, he worked as a financial
controller for China Zenith Chemical Group Limited (Stock Code: 0362).
Since February 2022, he has been working as a financial controller for
Graphex Group Limited (Stock Code: 6128). Mr. Shek has extensive
experience in the field of auditing, accounting and financial management
matters for over 10 years.
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Mr. Shen Ming Jie, aged 39, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company on 29 September 2023. He was
appointed as the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a
member of each of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee,
the Corporate Governance Committee and the Financial Reporting
Committee respectively since 29 September 2023. Mr. Shen Ming Jie has
obtained a Master degree in Law from Panthéon-Assas University Paris
Il. He has served as the person in charge of the legal and/or compliance
department in several listed companies in the People’s Republic of China
and state-owned enterprises. He is currently working as a practicing
lawyer in Shanghai Shentuo Law Firm. Mr. Shen Ming Jie has extensive
experience in protecting shareholders rights and resolving commercial
disputes and has represented clients in litigation and arbitration
proceedings in numerous significant cases.

Mr. Feng Jia Wei (“Mr. Feng”), aged 32, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company on 29 September
2023. He was appointed as the chairman of the Corporate Governance
Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee, the
Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Financial
Reporting Committee respectively since 29 September 2023. Mr. Feng
has obtained a Master degree in law from Shanghai Normal University.
He has previously served as in-house counsel for a Fortune 500 company
and is currently working as a practicing lawyer in Shanghai Shenjie Law
Firm. Mr. Feng has extensive experience in resolving civil and commercial
disputes and real estate compliance.
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The Directors of the Company present their report and the audited
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group are (i) investment holdings; (ii) mining
operations — exploitation and exploration of mineral resources; and (iii)
chemical trading operations; and (iv) aluminum metal trading operations.

An analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations of the
operations of the Group during the financial year are set out in Note 8 to
the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group and a discussion and analysis
of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31 December 2024, the
material factors underlying its results and financial position and material
attributable factors of the development and likely future developments
of the Group’s business, are provided throughout this Annual Report,
particularly in the following separate sections:

) Aletter to shareholders — “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 4 to 5;

o

(b)  Review of the Group’s business — “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 6 to 20;

(c)  The principal risks and uncertainties the Group is facing — “Report
of the Directors” on pages 24 to 34;

(d)  Future development in the Group’s business — “Management

Discussion and Analysis” on pages 6 to 20;

(e) Analysis using financial key performance indicators — and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 6 to 20 and
“Summary of Financial Information” on pages 175 to 176;

® Discussion on the Group’s compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations — “Report of the Directors” on pages 24 to 34 and
“Corporate Governance Report” on pages 35 to 52; and

(@  An account of the Group’s key relationships with its employees,
customers and suppliers and others — “Report of the Directors” on
pages 24 to 34.
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Report of the Directors
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PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

Although we have established the risk management system to identify,
analyse, evaluate and respond to risks, our business activities are subject
to the following risks, which could have material effects on our strategy,
operations, compliance and financial condition. We urge you to carefully
consider the risks described below:

1. Economic Environment Risks
Affected by current macro-economy and policies at Mainland
China and abroad, the business of mining operations, property
management operations and chemical trading operations where
the Company operates exits many risks and uncertainties.

To cope with such risks, the Company made thorough research
and analysis on macro-economy, government policies, industrial
development, intensified market analysis and judgement and
adopted corresponding actions against potential risks. It
accelerated restructuring, transformation and upgrading, thus
cultivating new profit growth and enhancing its comprehensive
competitiveness and anti-risk capabilities.

2. Market Price Risks

The sharp fluctuation of molybdenum concentrate and chemical
products price mainly reflects the change in supply and demand of
molybdenum products and chemical products, market uncertainty
and other factors out of control of the Group, including but not
limited to the overall economic situation, political unrest, economic
condition, availability of other metals, regulations of governments
both at Mainland China and abroad, natural disasters and weather
conditions. Price fluctuation will have a material impact on the
business, cash flow and revenue of the Group.

To cope with the risk, the Company intensifies prudent judgement
on the market, fully brings about the effect of supervision and
control over market price risk and alert thereof, continuously
improves its risk control capability in market price and constantly
strengthens production costs and expenses control.
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3. Safety and Environmental Risks

Stringent requirements in relation to safe production and
environmental protection ability for a company have been stipulated
in the Production Safety Law of People’s Republic of China and the
Environmental Protection Law of People’s Republic of China. As
the Company’s mining operation mainly includes the exploitation
and production of molybdenum concentrate, any safety or
environmental accident will inflict huge losses on the reputation and
assets of the Company.

To cope with the risk, the Company keeps improving management
rules, assigns responsibilities and further strengthens supervision
and examination in terms of safety and environmental protection.
It screens relevant hazards, takes preventive measures; constantly
increases awareness among enterprises and all employees in the
aspects of on-site management and safety and environmental
protection management by providing more training courses. It
also allocates more funds with a view to upgrade and reconstruct
technology and equipment, constantly promotes energy saving and
reduction of emissions.

4. Financial Risks
Details of financial risks are set out in Note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Environmental policies performance

The Group has taken initiatives to reduce energy consumption and
encourage recycle of office supplies and other materials. The Group will
continue to review and promote its environmental policies.

Compliance with the relevant laws and regulations

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has complied
in all material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the businesses and operations of the Group. During
the year under review, there was no material breach of or non-compliance
with applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

26 North Mining Shares Company Limited Annual Report 2024

3. ZERRERAK
(PEARZEMBEZ 2 E£EE) M (F
EAREMEERREEL Yo ENL
EHEMRERENGENITEERRR
o BHRAAANRBEBEXERR
FERREEERRBY  —BBLEREN
REEW  BEHAQRANBEERY
ESREAXEBX -

REBKER  A2FARZE2RED
BeZEBERA  DEEETLE—
MmEREEkiEE  HERB - KRHE
PifEse  THIERECERMAREINR
ERRERZ - MBI BARBE
BHNZ2RAEREREKF - TEMNLE
BRRESEA - UARRBGERM R
B FEHEESRREE

4. B R
MIEER M BRI RS R REME
36 °

RERBERR
AEEE R R ERBERE - SEE YK
MAERMEEMHE - AEEKFHERS
RAEERRBE °

BIHEBEERER
BEEEeREREENE  AEEEMEEKX
FTHEETHASENEKRREEAAEAXN
TEMMBBEEREREE REEFE - K
SEVEREERKITETERAEERER
B 1E A



Report of the Directors
EEEHRE

Relationship with employees and customers

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship
with its employees and customers to meet its business goals. During the
year under review, there were no significant dispute between the Group
and its employees and customers.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 and the
state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2024 are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 57 to 174.

The cashflows of the Group are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 62 to 63.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect
of the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year under review, the Group’s single largest customer and
supplier accounted for approximately 12% (2023: 11%) and 7% (2023:
7%) respectively, of the Group’s total operating revenue and cost of
sales. The Group’s five largest customers and suppliers accounted for
approximately 33% (2023: 39%) and 27% (2023: 26%) of the Group’s
total operating revenue and cost of sales respectively.

At no time during the year had the Directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which, to the knowledge of the Directors,
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) have any interest in
these major customers and suppliers.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
page 61.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE

Details of the amount of the Company’s reserve distributable to
shareholders as at 31 December 2024 are set out in Note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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As at 31 December 2024, no Company’s reserves is available for
distribution (2023: Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during the year
are set out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

The particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31
December 2024 are set out in Note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the year are
set out in Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

CHANGES IN THE INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
Pursuant to Rule 13.51(B)(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes of
information of Directors during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up
to the date of this report are set out below:

Ms. Qian Si Qun was appointed as an executive Director with effect from
28 March 2025.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE

COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries had purchased, redeemed or sold any of the
Company’s listed securities.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Yang Ying Min (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Qian Yi Dong (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Huang Zhidan
Mr. Shen Jian
Ms. Qian Si Qun
(appointed with effect from 28 March 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Shek Man Ho

Mr. Shen Ming Jie

Mr. Feng Jia Wei

DIRECTORS RETIRING BY ROTATION

Pursuant to the Company’s bye-laws 84(1) and 84(2), Mr. Qian Yi Dong,
Mr. Shen Jian and Ms. Qian Si Qun shall retire as Director by rotation at
the annual general meeting and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election at the annual general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has an unexpired service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation, other than
normal statutory obligations.

The Directors’ remuneration for the financial year is set out in Note 13 to
the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors or the chief executive
of the Company, or any of their respective associates, had any interests
or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”)), as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the
SFO, or as notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST IN

SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, according to the register kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, and so far as was known to the
Directors or chief executive of the Company, the following persons had,
or was deemed or taken to have, an interest or short position in the

ITERRzZBOER
R-F-MEF-A=+—8  RELLA

BRESFRBEROIFEIBCKRTFE 2ELM -
AERBEEETHAARBASRITRABRE
THALTRARR RN HABBR DS AR K

shares or underlying shares of the Company: W BEABERIAR
Long position: RE:
Ordinary Shares of HK$0.02 each of the Company AATERO.02EBETHEER
Approximate
percentage
Number of interest in the
shares/ issued voting
underlying shares of
Name of shareholders Capacity shares held the Company
EARRE BT
FrERe,/ W R RAE R 12
RREE/E8 E-37) HE RO HE EEBAEIL
Sfund International Asset Management Limited (note 1) Beneficial owner 2,575,478,816 20.58%
BEMNEBEBREEEREERAA (MiE1) ERmBEAA
Qian Baohua (note 2) Held by controlled corporation 2,438,619,133 19.49%
BEE (f32) HEEGRAFER
Huatune Holding Group Limited (note 2) Beneficial owner 2,182,208,877 17.44%
Huatune Holding Group Limited (Ff 5£2) EnEEA A
Huatune Corporate (note 2) Beneficial owner 256,410,256 2.05%
ER (B BRAA (M5E2) EnEAA
Gao Shan (note 3) Beneficial owner 999,055,393 7.99%
Gao Shan (Hff#3) EmBEEA
Ms. So Kit Yee Anita (note 4) Scheme Administrator 2,380,886,925 19.03%
wREL LT (MEE4) FTEIEREA
Mr. Leung Fredric Hin Hang (note 4) Scheme Administrator 2,380,886,925 19.03%
RETE L E (MEE4) HEIE R A
Luck Capital Limited (note 4) Scheme Company 2,380,886,925 19.03%

WEBRDA (M54) a2 A
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Notes:

1) Sfund International Asset Management Limited is wholly-owned by Sheer
Capital Investment Limited, which is wholly-owned by Sfund International
Investment Fund Management Limited (B M E S BRI EREESE
I A R 2 Al), Sfund International Investment Fund Management Limited
is wholly-owned by Guangzhou Huiyintianyue Equity Investment Fund
Management Co., Lid. (EMER KR EREREEZ S EEBR R A),
Guangzhou Huiyintianyue Equity Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd.
is wholly-owned by Guangzhou Industrial Investment Fund Management
Co,ltd. (EMEXILEAE S E®E AR A A, Guangzhou Industrial
Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd. is wholly owned by Guangzhou City
Construction Investment Group Company Limited (& M 38 i &2 8 1% &
SEERRA).

2) Huatune Holding Group Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. Qian Baohua.
Huatune Corporate is 95% owned by Mr. Qian Baohua.

3) Gao Shan personally held 999,055,393 shares in the Company.

4) According to the scheme of arrangement between the Company and its
scheme creditors, the Company transferred 11,086,710,827 issued ordinary
shares to the scheme company (i.e. Luck Capital Limited) on 29 September
2023. Ms. So Kit Yee Anita and Mr. Leung Fredric Hin Hang are the joint and
several administrators of the scheme. Luck Capital Limited has disposed
8,705,8283,902 ordinary shares for the six months ended 31 December 2024
pursuant to the terms of the Scheme.

5) These percentages are calculated on the basis of 12,511,640,397 issued
shares of the Company as at 31 December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors and chief executive of the
Company were not aware of any persons who, as at 31 December 2024,
had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
336 of the SFO and/or, who was, directly or indirectly, interested in 5%
or more of the nominal value of the issued share capital carrying rights to
vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year under review were rights to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any Director or their respective spouse or minor children,
or were any such rights exercised by them, or was the Company, its
holding company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party
to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in the
Company or any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

There was no contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company, any of its holding companies or fellow subsidiaries
was a party, in which a Director had a material interest, subsisted at the
end of the year under review or at any time during the year under review.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Board has the general power of determining the Directors’
remuneration, subject to the authorization of the shareholders of the
Company at the annual general meeting each year. The remuneration
of the Directors is subject to review by the Remuneration Committee,
and their remuneration is determined with reference to the Directors’
qualifications, experience, duties, responsibilities and performance and
results of the Company.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Details of the related party transactions during the financial year are set
out in Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

COMPETING INTERESTS

The Directors believe that none of the Directors and their respective
associates had an interest, directly or indirectly, in a business which
competes or may compete with the business of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Bye-laws provides that each Director or other officers of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities which he or she may sustain
or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his or her office or
otherwise in relation thereto. In addition, the Company has arranged
appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance in respect of relevant
legal actions against the Directors.

32 North Mining Shares Company Limited Annual Report 2024

EECEREGHER

EEMERARA - HEAERIFAHIRAR
B /8 & B 2 & 5T 37 E ] 4E [0 R 4F 2 AR A B 2K
EOBEFEAEANKRDAGTRES A EE
ZEBMEBMEREGAT - AEEMERE
FEM B
EXCSHEETEEFM 2 —REN AW
BOABFRBEREFRAELERRARR
B -EEFHEALTFHZE SRS - X
R2MEFZEF - &% B -  BEMN
RARBDZREREERETE -

EREALIRS
REBEERN  BEEALZRSHFBIR
LRE IS HREM FES2 -

wE R

EEMHE BECNEEARESECBE
ATRERKFEXRBEABFRALARFL
XA EEEEESR -

BEEEHN
RER  ADAYWIIKET AR LR
FEARABSEBOERRTRERBHY
EAEH -

R REEX

AMARTE  BREFHARAEMBSHEBE
KERMERAABBEITEBRE LR L AR
HbEEMARRIREENMABERE
BEARRREEEREE - B4 - AQF
ERSHHESNHBZIZTILHEENE
ERREBBEERR -



Report of the Directors
EEEHRE

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for convertible bonds and share option scheme of the Company,
no equity linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed
during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-
laws or the law of Bermuda.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and to the
best knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s issued
share capital were held by members of the public as at the date of this
report.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on pages 175 and 176 of this annual
report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Shek Man Ho, Mr. Shen Ming Jie and Mr. Feng
Jia Wei. The purpose of the establishment of the audit committee
is for reviewing and supervising the financial reporting process, risk
management and internal control systems of the Group. The Audit
Committee has reviewed the Group’s financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2024 were audited by Suya WWC CPA Limited (“Suya WWC”).

The same for the year ended 31 December 2021, 31 December 2022
and 31 December 2023 were audited by Elite Partners CPA Limited.

Suya WWC will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment as auditors of the Company at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.
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A resolution for the re-appointment of Suya WWC as auditors of the
Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Yang Ying Min
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board believes that good corporate governance is crucial to improve
the efficiency and performance of the Group and to safeguard the
interests of the shareholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company had applied
the principles of the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) as set out
in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules and complied with all the applicable
code provisions of the Code, except the following code provisions:

1. Under the code provision C.2.1 of the Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual.

Mr. Yang Ying Min, being the chairman and chief executive officer
of the Company, has in-depth knowledge and considerable
experience in the Group’s business, and is responsible for
the overall strategic planning and general management of the
Group. It was considered that vesting the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer in the same person will lead to consistent
leadership of the Group and enable the Group to make and
implement decisions promptly, thus achieving the Group’s
objectives efficiently and effectively in response to the changing
environment.

The Company has formulated a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) for
achieving diversity on the Board of the Company. The Policy enables
the sustainable and balanced development of the Company’s strategic
objectives. The Board reviewed the Policy annually to ensure the
effectiveness of the Policy.

The Company considers that sufficient measures had been taken to
ensure that the Company complied with the Code for the year ended 31
December 2024.

The Company will periodically review and improve its corporate
governance practices with reference to the latest development of relevant
corporate governance requirements.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all directors, the
Company confirmed that all directors had fully complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code for the year ended 31 December
2024.

BOARD MEETING

The principal roles of the Board are to oversee the strategic development,
to determine the objectives, strategies and policies of the Group, to
monitor and control the financial performance and to ensure effective
internal controls and risk management. Implementation of strategies and
day-to-day operations are delegated to the management.

Board members were provided with complete, adequate and timely
information to allow them to fulfill their duties properly. Schedules for
annual meeting and draft agenda of each meeting is sent to all Directors in
advance. Notice of at least 14 days is given for a regular Board meeting.
For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally
given. Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are dispatched to all Directors at least three days before each
regular Board meeting to ensure that the Directors have sufficient time
to review the related documents and be adequately prepared for the
meeting.

Minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings, which record in
sufficient detail the matters considered and decisions reached, are kept
by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection at any reasonable
time on reasonable notice by any Director. The Company’s Bye-laws
contains provisions requiring Directors to abstain from voting and not to
be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving transactions in which
such Directors or any of their associates have a material interest.
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The following table shows the attendance of each individual member
of the Board and the respective Board Committees at the Board, the
respective Board Committees meetings, annual general meeting and
special general meeting held during the year ended 31 December 2024:

TERBETEZGREEFEZEGZAMNK
BHERERBE-_Z-_MF+=-A=+—H1t
FERIZEFEEE  SEFCLEEE
# BRRAFRSEREFINAG 28

Corporate Financial

Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination ~ Governance Reporting Annual
Board  Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee General
Name of Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting

ENZEE HMZEE RAZEE  GXER MEEE  RRAE

ESpg Ezged EE EE &% ZBEe8d ZEgga3 b
Executive Directors BTES

Yang Ying Min BER 49 nefER nelER 1" nafER  natES 0A
Qian Yi Dong B-R 79 naliEf 111 nafER  nafER nalER 17
Huang Zhidan (note 1) 58 (1) 39  nefER nafEE nafER nafER nalER 0A
Shen Jian hi 89  nafER  nafEE  neTER nafER nalER 0A
Independent Non-executive BUFHTES

Directors
Shek Man Ho (note 2) AX% (3t2) 719 ¥ nefER nafER 22 22 11
Shen Ming Jie (note 3) HEA (H353) 8/9 33 17 17 22 2 0
Feng Jia Wei (note 4) BEE (i) 89 33 17 17 212 202 01
Notes: M e -

(1) Mr. Huang Zhidan was appointed as an executive Director with effect from
29 November 2023.

) Mr. Shek Man Ho was appointed as an independent non-executive director,
the chairman of each of the Audit Committee and the Financial Reporting
Committee and a member of the Corporate Governance Committee
respectively with effect from 29 September 2023.

) Mr. Shen Ming Jie was appointed as an independent non-executive director,
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of each of the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Corporate Governance
Committee and the Financial Reporting Committee respectively with effect
from 29 September 2023.

(4) Mr. Feng Jia Wei was appointed as an independent non-executive director,
the chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee and a member of
each of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Financial Reporting Committee respectively with effect
from 29 September 2023.

Any Director may request independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon reasonable request
being made to the Board.
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DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND CONTINUING
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Each of the newly appointed Directors has received a formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of his
appointment to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the
Company’s operations and business and is fully aware of the Director’s
responsibilities under statute and common law, the Listing Rules, legal
and other regulatory requirements and the Company’s business and
governance policies.

Pursuant to code provision A.6.5 of the Corporate Governance Code, all
Directors should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. The Company
will from time to time fund and arrange suitable training to all Directors to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills in relation to their duties
and responsibilities, such that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. All Directors are also encouraged to attend
relevant training courses at the Company’s expense and they have been
requested to provide the Company with their training records. According
to the training records maintained by the Company, the continuing
professional development programmes received by each of the Directors
during the year ended 31 December 2024 is summarised as follows:
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Name of Directors Type of training
EEHA EIEE
Mr. Yang Ying Min Aand B
BRREE AX%B
Mr. Qian Yi Dong Aand B
BTk AKB
Mr. Huang Zhidan Aand B
BEENEAE AEB
Mr. Shen Jian Aand B
R E AKB
Mr. Shek Man Ho Aand B
AXZFEE AKB
Mr. Shen Ming Jie Aand B
LR E AKB
Mr. Feng Jia Wei Aand B
HEEEE AEB
A attending training sessions, including but not limited to, seminars, briefings, 2NEINRE - BEETRAEXRE - B

conferences, forums and workshops

B: reading materials relating to the economy, general business, corporate
governance and directors’ duties and responsibilities

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

In compliance with the Listing Rules and the Bye-laws of the Company,
(i) all the non-executive Directors should be appointed for specific terms,
(i) all Directors should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years and are eligible for re-election, and (iii) any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy in the Board or as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following
general meeting of the Company and shall be subject to re-election at
such meeting.
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BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board set up various board committees responsible for various
aspect of business of the Company.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee of the Company was established in May
2006. The members of the Remuneration Committee during the financial
year of 2024 were:

Mr. Shen Ming Jie (Chairman)
Mr. Qian Yi Dong
Mr. Feng Jia Wei

The responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include setting
remuneration policy of the Group and fixing remuneration packages of the
Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules and the Bye-laws. Details
of the remuneration paid to the respective Directors are set out in Note
13 to the financial statements. No Directors can determine their own
remuneration packages. The Remuneration Committee is provided with
sufficient resources to discharge its duties. The Remuneration Committee
has adopted terms of reference which are aligned with the Code. The
chairman of the Remuneration Committee will report their findings and
recommendations to the Board for consideration and approval. The
Remuneration Committee will meet at least once a year to discharge its
responsibilities in accordance with its terms of reference.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Remuneration Committee
held one meeting, the work performed included the followings:

a. discussing the policy for the remuneration of the Directors;

b. reviewing remuneration packages of the Directors;

G making recommendations to the Board on remuneration of the
Directors.
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Audit Committee
The members of the Audit Committee during the financial year of 2024
were:

Mr. Shek Man Ho (Chairman)
Mr. Shen Ming Jie
Mr. Feng Jia Wei

The Audit Committee will meet no less than twice a year to review all
business affairs managed by the executive Directors and to review
the interim and annual financial statements of the Group before their
submission to the Board for approval and to review the effectiveness
of the financial reporting system, risk management and internal control
systems of the Group. The Audit Committee has adopted terms of
reference which are aligned with the Code. A copy of the terms of
reference of the Audit Committee has been posted on the Company’s
website.

All members under the Audit Committee possess diversified business
experience. The chairman of the Audit Committee has appropriate
professional qualification, accounting or related financial management
expertise as required by the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee held 3
meetings, the work performed included the followings:

a. making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditor, to approve the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor, and
to deal with any issues relating to the resignation or dismissal of
such auditor;

b. monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial statements, annual
reports and interim reports;

& review the financial controls, risk management and internal control
systems of the Company; and

d. consider and identify risks of the Group and review the effectiveness
of the decision-making processes of the Group.
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Corporate Governance Committee

In order to further strengthen the Company’s corporate governance,
the Company established the Corporate Governance Committee on 12
January 2008:

The members of the Corporate Governance Committee during the
financial year of 2024 were as follows:

Mr. Feng Jia Wei (Chairman)
Mr. Shek Man Ho
Mr. Shen Ming Jie

The major responsibilities of the Corporate Governance Committee are to
oversee the Company’s corporate governance matters and to ensure that
the Company has complied with the Code. The Corporate Governance
Committee had reviewed the corporate governance report of the
Company and confirmed that the Company had complied with the Code
of the Listing Rules throughout the year except some deviations from the
Code mentioned in the section headed “Corporate Governance Practice”
of this report.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Corporate Governance
Committee held 2 meetings, the work performed included the followings:
a. develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on

corporate governance and make recommendation to the Board;

b. review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(e review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; and

d. review the Company’s compliance with the CG code and disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report.
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Financial Reporting Committee

The Board, supported by the accounts department, is responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements of the Company and the Group.
The Company has also set up a Financial Reporting Committee which
major responsibility is to oversee the preparation of financial statements
of each financial period, which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group and of the Group’s results and cash flow for that
year. The Financial Reporting Committee is also responsible to ensure
the compliance by the Group of disclosure requirements under the Listing
Rules in a timely manner.

The members of the Financial Reporting Committee during the financial
year of 2024 are as follows:

Mr. Shek Man Ho (Chairman)
Mr. Shen Ming Jie
Mr. Feng Jia Wei

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Financial Reporting
Committee held 2 meetings, the work performed included the followings:
a. reviews the financial statements, including annual report and interim

report;

b. ensures accuracy, consistency, and compliance with relevant
accounting standards;

(o} ensures that reporting complies with legal and regulatory
requirements; and

d. coordinates with external auditors regarding audit scope, results,
and any issues raised.
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Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 29 September
2023, subject to the regulations contained in the Companies Law of
Bermuda, the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and the bye-laws
of the Company (the “Bye-laws”).

The responsible for performing the nomination duties including:

a. reviewing the structure, size and diversity (including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service) of the Board on
a regular basis (“‘Board Diversity Policy”);

b. formulating and adjusting the Board Diversity Policy and reviewing
the measurable objectives for implementing diversity on the Board
from time to time;

(oF reviewing the candidates’ qualification and competence;

d. assessing the independence of the Independent Non-executive
Directors; and

e. making decision on appointment of Directors.

The members of the Nomination Committee during the financial year of
2024 are as follows:

Mr. Yang Ying Min (Chairman)

Mr. Shen Ming Jie
Mr. Feng Jia Wei
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy in accordance with
the requirement set out in the Code. Such policy aims to set out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board. Accordingly, all Board
appointments shall be based on meritocracy, and candidates shall be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board. Selection of candidates shall be based on a range
of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to, gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. The ultimate decision shall be based on merit and
contribution could the selected candidates could bring to the Board. The
Nomination Committee, from time to time, oversees the implementation
of the policy, and reviews, as appropriate, the policy to ensure the
effectiveness of the policy and continues to give adequate consideration
to these measurable objectives when making recommendations of
candidates for appointment to the Board.

In respect of the gender diversity of the Board, as at the date of the
Annual Report, one of the eight Directors of the Company is female,
representing 12.5% of the Board. The Company has achieved on a
diverse Board up to the date of this report and will continue implementing
the board gender diversity policy in the future to enhance the overall
performance of the Board and the effectiveness of decision-making. The
Company will continue its nomination policy to select suitable candidates
with no gender limitation to be newly appointed Directors in the next few
years.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

An amount of approximately HK$900,000 (2023: HK$1,000,000) was
charged to the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024 for the auditing services provided by Suya
WWC CPA Limited. There was no non-audit service assignment provided
by Suya WWC CPA Limited during the year (2023: Nil).
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Company aims to present a clear, balanced and understandable
assessment of its financial position and prospects. Financial results are
announced as early as possible, with interim report and annual report as
well as other price-sensitive announcements and financial disclosures
published as required under the Listing Rules.

The management provides explanation, information and progress update
to the Board for it to make an informed assessment of the financial and
other issues put before the Board for approval and consideration.

A discussion and analysis of the Groups’ performance, an explanation of
the basis on which the Company generates or preserves value over the
longer term and the strategy for delivering the Company’s objectives have
been prepared and included in the “Directors’ Report” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” sections of this annual report.

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2024 under Review, the
Directors had selected appropriate accounting policies and applied them
consistently. The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing
the financial accounts of the Group which give a true and fair view and are
in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. A statement
made by the Auditor on their reporting responsibilities for the year ended
31 December 2024 under Review is set out in this annual report.

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

The Auditor has issued a disclaimer of opinion on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
with the basis of multiple material uncertainties relating to going concern.
For details, please refer to “Management Discussion and Analysis”,
“Independent Auditor’s Report” and Note 1.3 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Board noted that the modification on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 was
qualified on the basis of “disclaimer of opinion” was essentially due to
the Auditor’s concern over the going concern of the Group due to the
potential interaction of multiple uncertainties.
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Board’s view towards the disclaimer of opinion

In order to address the disclaimer of opinion, the Group has taken and
will continue to implement the following measures to improve the Group’s
liquidity position:

(i) The Directors will strengthen to implement measures aiming of
improving the working capital and cash flow of the Group including
closely monitoring the general administrative expenses and
operating costs.

The Directors remain committed to strengthening the Group’s
financial position by implementing targeted measures aimed at
enhancing working capital efficiency and cash flow generation.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board and the
management of the Group made their best effort to reduce all
expenses, and various departments of the Group had also actively
cooperated in reducing expenses. The Group had also achieved
results this year. The group’s administrative expenses for the year
ended 31 December 2024 had decreased 17.81% compared with
2023. For coming 2025, the Group’s goals remain unchanged and
will continue to increase revenue and reduce expenditure.

In the Auditor’s point, although the cost control of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2024 has made significant
progress compared with the year ended 31 December 2023, it
cannot bring significant improvements to the group’s net current
liabilities and net liabilities of approximately HK$1,488,805,000 and
HK$570,868,000 respectively. The Board believes that relevant
cost control needs to be gradual and cannot reduce any necessary
expenses in one fell swoop. All departments of the Group still follow
our policies to reduce expenses, our goal is to reduce expenses by
another 10% in the year 2025.
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The Directors will continue to source additional funding to support
the Group’s operation and settlement of loans when they fall due.

The Board is currently negotiating and discussing with potential
investors to obtain new funds to solve the Group’s liquidity and
support the Group’s operations. The Group was unable to provide
any draft agreement or memorandum of understanding to the
Auditor as the Group had not yet entered in to definitive agreements
with the potential investors.

While these negotiations are at an advanced stage, no definitive
agreements, term sheets, or memoranda of understanding have
been signed as of the date of this annual report. The sensitive
and confidential nature of these discussions has also limited the
Group’s ability to share detailed documentation at this stage.

Despite the absence of signed agreements, the Board remains
confident in reaching a positive outcome based on:

° Active and constructive dialogue with multiple credible
investors;

° Prior successful fundraising exercises completed in similar
conditions; and

° The improving financial performance of the Group’s mining
operation, which has attracted investors interest.

While we acknowledge that the current absence of formal funding
agreements limits the availability of audit evidence, management is
of the view that:

° There is a reasonable expectation that funding will be
secured in due course;

o The Group’s proactive approach and ongoing negotiations
demonstrate a clear plan to address liquidity and funding
needs; and

° The Group is taking appropriate steps to mitigate financing
risks and support its going concern assumption.

the Group’s mining operation has been resumed in October 2024
after obtaining all the necessary approval certificate from the PRC’s
authorities. The Directors are in the opinion that the Group’s mining
operation will generate positive cash flow and that will improve the
overall liquidity position of the Group.
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The Board acknowledged the Auditor’s concerns regarding the
assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
particularly related to the sufficiency of future cash inflows from the mining
operation. Below is our response with relevant facts, management’s
position, and mitigating factors:

1. Resumption of Mining Operation
The Group successfully resumed its mining operation in October
2024 following a period of suspension. Since the resumption, the
mining operation has been stable and progressing according to the
business plan.

2. Revenue Performance
From October to December 2024, the mining operation generated
approximately HK$100 million in revenue within 2 months. This
early performance demonstrated operational viability and the
potential of the mine to generate substantial income over time.

3. Cash Flow and Financial Forecasts
Management has prepared detailed cash flow forecasts for the
next 12 to 18 months, which incorporate conservative assumptions
based on actual production volumes, historical and current
commodity prices, and current contracts with customers. These
forecasts indicate that:

° The mining operation is expected to generate positive
operating cash flows.

o The cash inflows, combined with available financing facilities,
are sufficient to meet all operating and financial obligations in
the foreseeable future.

Notwithstanding the above, material uncertainties exist as to whether
the Group is able to obtain the necessary funding and achieve the plans
and measures above. The Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
will depend upon whether the Group is able to obtain financing when
required, while the attainability will depend on the performance of the
Group and whether the Group is able to generate sufficient cash flow
from operations and plans to control costs, and the attainability depends
on the market performance. Despite the efforts made by the Company to
address the concern, the Auditor proposed the disclaimer of opinion. The
management of the Company has considered the Auditor’s rationale and
understood their consideration in arriving the disclaimer of opinion.
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Audit Committee’s view towards the disclaimer of
opinion

The Audit Committee has critically reviewed the basis for the disclaimer
of opinion. The Audit Committee has also discussed with the Auditor
the financial position of the Group, the measures taken and to be taken
by the Company, and consider the Auditor’s rationale and understood
their consideration in arriving to the disclaimer of opinion. The Audit
Committee agreed with the management of the Group that the Group
is able to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 have been
prepared on a going concern basis. The Audit Committee requested the
management to take all necessary actions to address the effect on the
basis for disclaimer of opinion to procure no such disclaimer of opinion to
be made in the next financial year.

SHAREHOLDER’S RIGHTS
Convening a Special General Meeting by

Shareholders

Pursuant to the Bye-law 58 of the Company, a special general meeting
may be convened by the Board upon requisition by any shareholder
holding not less than one-tenth of the issued share capital of the
Company and the securities being held carrying the right of voting at any
general meetings of the Company. The shareholder shall make a written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary of the Company at
the head office or principal place of business in Hong Kong, specifying
the shareholding information of the shareholder, his/her contact details
and the proposal regarding any specified transaction/business and its
supporting documents.

The Board shall arrange to hold such general meeting within two (2)
months after the receipt of such written requisition. The Company shall
serve requisite notice of the general meeting, including the time, place of
meeting and particulars of resolutions to be considered at the meeting
and the general nature of the business. If within twenty-one (21) days
of the receipt of such written requisition, the Board fails to proceed
to convene such special general meeting, the shareholder shall do so
pursuant to the provisions of Section 74(3) of the Companies Act of
Bermuda.

The procedures for sending enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns in writing to the
Board by addressing them to the Company Secretary at the Principal
Place of Business and the Company Secretary shall then forward the
same to the appropriate executives of the Company or members in the
Board for further handling.
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Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

A shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary of the Company at the head office or principal place
of business in Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding information of
the shareholder, his/her contact details and the proposal he/she intends
to put forward at general meeting regarding any specified transaction/
business and its supporting documents.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is responsible to the Board for ensuring that the
Board procedures are followed and the Board activities are efficiently and
effectively conducted. She is also responsible for ensuring that the Board
is fully appraised of the relevant legislative, regulatory and corporate
governance developments relating to the Group and facilitating the
induction and professional development of directors.

During the year under review, the company secretary has attended
relevant professional seminars to update her skills and knowledge. She
has complied with the relevant professional training requirement under
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company follows a policy of disclosing relevant information to
shareholders in a timely manner. The Directors meet and communicate
with shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company. The
Chairman proposes separate resolutions for each issue to be considered
and put each proposed resolution to the vote by way of a poll. Voting
results are posted on the Company’s website on the day of annual
general meeting.

The shareholders’ communication policy is subject to review by the Board
and will be amended as appropriate to reflect current best practices
in communication with shareholders and to ensure its effectiveness in
communicating with shareholders.

The Board provides updated information on the Group to shareholders
through the publication of notices, announcements, circulars, interim
and annual reports. The Memorandum and Articles of Association of the
Company and its updated versions are also published on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There were changes in the constitutional documents of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2024 in order to (i) bringing the
existing Bye-laws in line with the relevant requirements of the applicable
laws of Bermuda and the Listing Rules, particularly to conform to the Core
Standards set out in Appendix 3 of the Listing Rules; and (i) making other
consequential and housekeeping amendments (the “Amendments”).
The Amendments were approved at the special general meeting of the
Company held on 15 January 2024.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility in maintaining sound and
effective risk management and internal control systems for the Group to
safeguard investments of the shareholders and assets of the Group at all
times.

The Board will conduct regular review regarding internal control and risk
management systems of the Group. During the year ended 31 December
2024, the Board reviewed and discussed with the Group’s internal audit
team and the senior management on the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Company’s internal control systems including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management. The internal audit team
and the senior management further made recommendations to the Board
to ensure reliability of financial reporting and compliance with applicable
statutory accounting and reporting requirements, legal and regulatory
requirements, internal rules and procedures approved by the Board, to
identify and manage potential risks of the Group. Besides, the Board will
also perform regular review on the Group’s performance and internal
control system in order to ensure effective measures are in place to
protect material assets and identify business risks of the Group.

In respect of the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board considered
the internal control and risk management system effective and adequate.
No significant areas of concern that might affect shareholders were

identified during the relevant period.

On behalf of the Board

Yang Ying Min
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB E

To the Members of
North Mining Shares Company Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of North
Mining Shares Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 57 to 174,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2024, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. Because of the significance of the matters described in the
Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have not been
able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for
an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all other
respects, in our opinion the consolidated financial statements have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Multiple fundamental uncertainties relating to going concern

We draw attention to note 1.3 to the consolidated financial statements,
which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$249,235,000 during the year ended 31 December 2024 and, as
of that date, the Group had net current liabilities and net liabilities of
approximately HK$1,488,805,000 and HK$570,868,000 respectively. As
at 31 December 2024, the Group had bank loans and other borrowings of
HK$426,731,000, of which HK$409,079,000 and HK$17,652,000 were
recorded under current liabilities and non-current liabilities respectively.
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had bank balances totalling
HK$15,247,000.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
AR R TS

The directors of the Company have been undertaking a number of
measures to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position and to
meet its liabilities as and when they fall due, which are set out in note
1.3 to the consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of
which depends on the eventual successful outcome of these measures,
which are subject to multiple uncertainties, including whether: (a) the
Group can obtain additional funding to support the Group’s operation and
settlement of loans when they fall due; (b) the Group’s mining operation
which had been resumed during the year ended 31 December 2024 will
generate sufficient cashflow to improve the liquidity position of the Group
in coming year; and (c) the Group can successfully implement its cost
control measures and to improve its business operations.

Should the Group fail to achieve successful outcomes from the
above-mentioned plans and measures, it might not be able to continue to
operate as a going concern, and adjustments would have to be made to
write down the carrying values of the Group’s assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might arise, and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets
and current liabilities. The effects of these adjustments have not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

We have not been provided with sufficient appropriate audit evidence
to conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going
concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements because of the lack of detailed analyses provided
by management in relation to its plans and measures for future actions
in its going concern assessment which take into account the uncertainty
of outcome of these plans and measures and how variability in outcome
would affect the future cash flows of the Group. Any adjustments
found to be required may have consequential significant effects on the
consolidated net liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2024 and the
consolidated financial performance and cash flows of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2024, and the related elements and disclosures
thereof in the consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B BT HRE

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accounts (the “HKICPA”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the Directors determined is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group'’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s
report. We report solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90
of Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. However, because of the matters described in
the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we were not able
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an
audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Chung King Ho.

Suya WWC CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Unit 4, 27/F, Wu Chung House,
213 Queen’s Road East,

Wan Chai,

Hong Kong

31 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
meEakHEMZEKRER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E = F —UF+ = H=+—HIFFE

2024 2023
ZE-OF —EC=F
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
B 2% FER FA T
(Restated)
(&5
Continuing operations BERSEEL
Revenue g 3% 5(a) 1,110,226 1,533,714
Cost of sales & A A (982,541) (1,441,307)
Gross profit EX 127,685 92,407
Other income HEug A 5(b) 2,929 2,410
Research and development cost Tt 8 pk AR (38,260) (46,464)
Provision for impairment losses under TEEEEEE ([BHEE
expected credit loss (‘ECL”), net EiE]) BTRERIE
R FER 6 (19,296) (17,278)
Other gains and losses Hi = Kk EBE 7 (416,292) (183,755)
Loss on debt restructuring BEREHRERE 9 - (1,343,925)
Administrative expenses THRAX (118,327) (143,959)
Loss from operations KREEE (461,561) (1,640,564)
Finance costs A& A A 10 (192,762) (132,193)
Loss before income tax MRETEHAIEE 11 (654,323) (1,772,757)
Taxation — credit HE e 14 80,089 12,891
Loss for the year from continuing AEEBREBERLEER
operations == (574,234) (1,759,866)
Discontinued operations CRIEEEER
Profit/(Loss) for the year from discontinued 7K £F & B 48 |F 4% & 2 75 3% 7
operations / (E18) 12 324,999 ©®)
Loss for the year RNEEEE (249,235) (1,759,872
Attributable to: BT AL ML
Owners of the parent YNEIET DN (68,486) (1,632,535)
Non-controlling interests FEVE AR M = (180,749) (127,337)
Loss for the year EEFEERFE (249,235) (1,759,872
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
meEakHEMZERKRER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E = F —UF+=-H=+—HIFFE

2024 2023
—E_@mE —_E_-=
Notes HK$°000 HK$’'000
i 7 FTER FAxT
(Restated)
(E5)
Other comprehensive income Httz2mEkE
(Net of tax effect): (MMBRBEEE)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently 1 14 A] B E 37 5 B = 18 75
to profit or oss: ZIHA :
Exchange differences arising from REGHNNBRAAEEZ
translation of foreign subsidiaries lE N EXE 3,445 6,239
Release of upon disposal of foreign £ HNHT B A R & B
subsidiaries 12,088 -
Other comprehensive income for the AEEHAMZEKE
year 15,533 6,239
Total comprehensive expenses forthe HXNEE2XMEBAXESH
year (233,702) (1,758,633)
Attributable to: LT AL FE:
Owners of the parent UNEIEZ =N 83,259 (1,636,018)
Non-controlling interests FEVE IR (316,961) (117,615)
Total comprehensive expenses AEEXEHBAZHARE
for the year (233,702) (1,758,633)
Loss per share BRERE 17
From continuing and discontinued RABEMDRIECEER
operations
— Basic and diluted, HK cents —EAREE - B (0.55) (43.09)
From continuing operations REFEKEER
— Basic and diluted, HK cents —EARREE - B (1.56) (43.09)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e B IS AR R R 3R

As at 31 December 2024 R—ZF—pF+_—A=+—H

2024 2023
—E_NF —ET=-=
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FE T FH&T
ASSETS BE
Non-Current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERRE 18 474,365 591,617
Mining rights TR 19 526,860 782,369
Prepayment T FE 20 43,663 26,206
Right-of-use assets FAEEE 31(a) 29,049 37,023
1,073,937 1,437,215
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 21 317,949 156,176
Trade receivables JE U2 B R 22 45,145 116,001
Prepayments, deposits and ERRE - Ee2k
other receivables H 8 U R 23 85,987 43,614
Cash and cash equivalents ReBEeEEY 24 15,247 5,941
464,328 321,732
TOTAL ASSETS EE#E 1,538,265 1,758,947
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXR#E
Share capital % A 25 250,233 250,233
Reserves ] (206,946) (290,205)
Equity attributable to owners NRE A AELER
of the Company 43,287 (89,972)
Non-controlling interests FEE AR = (614,155) (297,194)
TOTAL EQUITY EHHAE (570,868) (337,166)
LIABILITIES & 1&
Non-Current liabilities kFBAE
Bank loans and other borrowings RITERNMEMER 29 17,652 27,533
Lease liabilities HEBE 31(b) 6,633 7,162
Deferred tax liabilities EERIE A & 26 131,715 219,298
156,000 253,993
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BN B R

As at 31 December 2024 R—F —iF+_—-HA=+—H

2024 2023
—E_NEF T =
Notes HK$000 HK$’000
B 5 FE&x FH& T
Current liabilities REBEE

Trade payables & BR 3N 27 264,698 373,998
Other payables and accruals HEEMNZRESER 28 720,692 682,241
Contract liabilities aHBaE 30 558,381 116,206
Bank loans and other borrowings RITE R R EHME K 29 409,079 669,415
Lease liabilities HEaE 31(b) 283 260
1,953,133 1,842,120
TOTAL LIABILITIES BEHAE 2,109,133 2,096,113
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES ERRAGEHEE 1,538,265 1,758,947
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES FEBAEFHE (1,488,805) (1,520,388)

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EERERARBER
LIABILITIES (414,868) (83,173
NET LIABILITIES EEFE (570,868) (337,166)

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for

issue by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2025 and signed on its

behalf by:

Yang Ying Min

BER
Director

BFE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEEREER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

Att January 208 H-%-=§-5-A 3396 3761932 31,350 (894 9% 12606 (r3829) (202685 (1326499 (179579 (1,506,078

Loss forthe year TEREE - - - - - - - [R5 (16253 (7% (175987
Bchangediference  EXEE - - - - - - (3483 - (3483 972 6,299
Totdl compehensieloss ZEF 2 AFELE
forthe year = = = = = = B3 (16325 (1636019 (11761 (17536%)
Capita reducton R4 0550 (7619%) 4112488 = = = = = = = =
Subscrpton of shares ~ 2ER A 518 872 = = = S = = 40000 = 40000
Scheme Shareslssue — TEIRA %A 2B 2600810 = = = = = - 8545 - 28855
A3 December 2023 K-BZZE
tzh=1-8 W02 6B 414383 8%) 95 0616 Py BN (N9 [T [T

Midnayyt  H-RoBE-F-B BB 66K 41438% 8% W 0 UA)  BSSI0 (99T O9AM)  (RTI6H)
loslrteya  AEEER - - - - : - o4 @846 (oY (92

Bchangedfeence  EXEE - - - - - - (19 - (¢19) 3,864 3445
Releass upon disposelof £ & 501 HE R AKER
foreign subsidiaries - - - - - - 152,164 - 152,164 (140,076) 12,088

Totd comprehensieloss ZEF2EFELE
for the year - - - - - - 151,745 (68,486) 83,259 (316,961) (233702

A3 December 2024 W-E-RE
A= =k 20203 2695682 4143838 (89%4) 995 12,676 (125567 (6,933,676) 43,287 (614,155) (570,868)




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

m;K1é§~£Ei:§Eriﬁij§%;§§E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E = F —UF+=-H=+—HIFFE

2024 2023
—ESE-NE —F-=
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 2 FTER FAxT
(Restated)
(E5)

Cash flows from operating activities RETBHELEZRESRE
Loss before income tax %R P 1S B AT S 1B (654,323) (1,772,757)
Amortisation of mining right PRE HE 0 13,086 =
Bank interest income ;AT A B WA (50) (39)
Depreciation of property, plant and M BEREKBITE

equipment 95,585 74,270
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEERE 5,791 5,887
Impairment loss on property, plant and mE - BERKEREERE

equipment 18 147,503 31,609
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets FRAEEEREEIE 31(b) 1,020 149
Impairment loss on mining right PRHE R OR B & 18 19 215,715 51,564
Impairment loss on goodwill HMEREESE - 13,403
Impairment loss on inventory FEREERE = 3,323
Loss on debt restructuring BB EHERE - 1,343,925
Provision for impairment losses of under ~ FEH{Z B E B E A TR E

ECL model ISRk 19,296 17,278
Interest expenses for lease liabilities HEBGEMNBERX 10 855 898
Interest on bank and other borrowings and  $8 77 J £ b {& 5% JA &

corporate bonds TEEBEHFE 10 191,907 131,296
Operating gain/(loss) before working capital &8 & & & 8 i 2 & & W 5

changes / (E18) 36,385 (99,200)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FE GEm R (170,516) 106,606
Increase in trade receivables, FEWRRFK - BT RA

prepayments, deposits and other & Kk H AWK i" n

receivables (34,964) (91,548)
(Decrease)/Increase in trade payables, FERER - EMEMNRK

other payables and accruals EETER CRd) /8 (84,949) 150,480
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities AHBEEM CAL) 455124 (101,979)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations & & 18 (i) 23R4 201,080 (35,641)
Tax paid [=ENEZRE - -
Net cash generated from/(used in) EEEBFRE (R 2

operating activities iﬁ S FE 201,080 (35,641)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mEHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E = F —UF+ = H=+—HIFFE

2024 2023
—E-_MEF —F-=
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 2% FER FA T
(Restated)
(ZE5)
Cash flows from investing activities RETHEEZHERE
Acquisition of property, plant and WHEmME - BEKEE
equipment (127,486) (8,414)
Interest received B F B 50 39
Investment deposit KBRS - (3,087)
Net cash outflow for disposal of subsidiaries () & [ff & X & 3R & 7t ) & 33 (254) -
Net cash used in investing activities RETEFMAZRESFE (127,690) (6,462)
Cash flows from financing activities METHEEZRHERE
Proceed from bank loans and other RITERREMERME
borrowings KIA 38,693 97,764
Loans interest paid ENERFE (11,316) (9,295)
Repayment of bank loans and other EEETERREAEGRK
borrowings (89,512) (91,512)
Proceeds from issuance of shares BT TS RIE - 40,000
Repayment of lease liabilities BERMEAR (1,111) (1,129)
Net cash (used in)/generated from MEZTE (FA) Bz
financing activities BEeFHE (63,246) 35,828
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and ReRBReEEYWHEM
cash equivalents (R2) F8 10,144 (6,275)
Cash and bank balances at1 January W—A—HBZBE&KERIT
ek 5,941 11,344
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, /N E XS FH & -
net FE (838) 872
Cash and bank balances at R+T-ZA=+—HBzHER
31 December RITH 8 15,247 5,941
Analysis of balances of cashandcash BHE&RBREZEYWEEH =2
equivalents i
Cash and bank balances e RIFTTEH 15,247 5,941
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E = F —UF+=-H=+—HIFFE

1

64

GENERAL INFORMATION AND STATEMENT OF
COMPLIANCE AND BASIS FOR PREPARATION

1.1

1.2

General information

North Mining Shares Company Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liabilities. The address of the registered office of the
Company is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The principal place of business
has been changed to Room 2004-05, 20/F, Kwan Chart
Tower, 6 Tonnochy Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong. The shares
of the Company are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”).

The principal activities of the Company are investment
holdings. The principal activities of the Company and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are mining operations —
exploitation, exploration, manufacture of mineral resources,
sales of chemical products and sales of aluminium plates.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the same functional currency of the
Company.

Statement of compliance and basis for

preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). In addition, the consolidated
financial statements also include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION AND STATEMENT OF
COMPLIANCE AND BASIS FOR PREPARATION

(Continued)

1.2 Statement of compliance and basis for

preparation (Continued)

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services. Fair
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to
be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial application
the results of the valuation technique equals the transaction
price.

—REMETEBHARGERE
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E = F —UF+=-H=+—HIFFE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION AND STATEMENT OF
COMPLIANCE AND BASIS FOR PREPARATION
(Continued)

1.3 Going concern

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$249,235,000 during the year ended 31 December 2024
and, as of that date, the Group had net current liabilities
and net liabilities of approximately HK$1,488,805,000
and HK$570,868,000 respectively. As at 31 December
2023, the Group had bank loans and other borrowings
of HK$426,731,000, of which HK$409,079,000 and
HK$17,652,000 were recorded under current liabilities and
non-current liabilities respectively. As at 31 December 2024,
the Group had bank balances totaling HK$15,247,000.
Further, the continuity of the Group’s operation is dependent
upon the Group was able to solicit new funding for their
operation. These conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt upon the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company (“Directors”) have careful
consideration for the liquidity of the Group in light of the
conditions described above.

*

The English translation of Chinese names is for identification
purpose only
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION AND STATEMENT OF
COMPLIANCE AND BASIS FOR PREPARATION

(Continued)

1.3 Going concern (Continued)

These conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and therefore
the Group may be unable to realise its assets and discharge
its liabilities in the normal course of business.

Notwithstanding the aforesaid conditions, these consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis on the assumption that the Group will be able to
operate as a going concern for the foreseeable future. In the
opinion of the Directors, the Group can meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due within the next year
from the date of the consolidated financial statements, after
taking into consideration of the following measures and
arrangements made subsequent to the reporting date:

(i) The Directors will strengthen to implement measures
aiming of improving the working capital and cash flow
of the Group including closely monitoring the general
administrative expenses and operating costs;

(i)  The Directors will continue to source additional funding
to support the Group’s operation and settlement of
loans when they fall due; and
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E = F —UF+=-H=+—HIFFE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION AND STATEMENT OF
COMPLIANCE AND BASIS FOR PREPARATION

(Continued)

68

1.3 Going concern (Continued)

(i) ~ The Group’s mining operation has been resumed in
October 2024 after obtaining all the necessary approval
certificate from the PRC’s authorities. The Directors are
in the opinion that the Group’s mining operation will
generate positive cash flow and that will improve the
overall liquidity position of the Group.

On the basis of the foregoing, and after assessing the
Group’s current and forecasted cash positions, the
Directors are satisfied that the Group will be able to meet
in full the Group’s financial obligations as they fall due for
the period of twelve months from the date of consolidated
financial statements. Accordingly, the consolidated financial
statements of the Group have been prepared on the going
concern basis. Should the Group be unable to continue to
operate as a going concern, adjustments would have to
be made to restate the value of assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might
arise and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities, respectively.
The effects of these potential adjustments have not been
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

North Mining Shares Company Limited Annual Report 2024

—RERETEBARGRE
()

1.3 FELE (|

(i) BETFREBEBEAESHEY
EHEBERANEENERE
¥BER-_ZT-_MFEF Ak
BEZ - EERALAEEAW
RBEBEELTRSR -
EEREAEENEER
BEakn o

ERLMBER  EFEAEEE
AIRFEARERRNIE - EEEWH
AEBERERATBRETAKZES
RAMBHRRRAMETF+ @A
NEBOFBEE - Bt - &%
BHEEMBERREDERFERLSE
HEERHE - MAKBREFEL
2 AeNEEBEETHE
KEEIASATRE S - sLA B
EEZEE - FREFREE
YHFERBDEERFRDEED
NEFIBRRBDEERRDA
B ZEBECERAEZRELER
MRZEFEAMBRERT -



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

2

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENT
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

2.1 Amendments to HKFRSs that are

mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period
beginning on 1 January 2024 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classiffication of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements

Except as described below, the application of the
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation

5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and Amendments to
HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E = F —UF+=-H=+—HIFFE

2

70

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENT

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

2.1 Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

(Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation

5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and Amendments to
HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”) (Continued)

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for
at least twelve months from reporting date for classification of
liabilities as current or noncurrent, which:

° specify that the classification of liabilities as current
or non-current should be based on rights that are
in existence at the end of the reporting period.
Specifically, the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle the
liability within 12 months.

° clarify that the settlement of a liability can be a transfer
of cash, goods or services, or the entity’s own equity
instruments to the counterparty. If a liability has terms
that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in
its settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own equity
instruments, these terms do not affect its classification
as current or non-current only if the entity recognises
the option separately as an equity instrument applying
HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

2

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENT
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

2.1 Amendments to HKFRSs that are

mandatorily effective for the current year

(Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation

5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and Amendments to
HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”) (Continued)

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date which are conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the 2022 Amendments specifically clarify that
only covenants that an entity is required to comply with on
or before the end of the reporting period affect the entity’s
right to defer settlement of a liability for at least twelve
months after the reporting date, even if compliance with the
covenant is assessed only after the reporting date. The 2022
Amendments also specify that covenants with which an entity
must comply after the reporting date (i.e. future covenants)
do not affect the classification of a liability as current or
non-current at the reporting date. However, if the entity’s
right to defer settlement of a liability is subject to the entity
complying with covenants within twelve months after the
reporting period, an entity discloses information that enables
users of financial statements to understand the risk of the
liabilities becoming repayable within twelve months after the
reporting period. This would include information about the
covenants, the carrying amount of related liabilities and facts
and circumstances, if any, that indicate that the entity may
have difficulties complying with the covenants.

In accordance with the transition provision, the Group has
applied the new accounting policy to the classification of
liability as current or non-current retrospectively.

The application of the amendments in the current year had
no material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E = F —UF+=-H=+—HIFFE

2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENT
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

2.2 New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue
but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

Amendment to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments to the Classification and

Measurement of Financial Instruments®

Amendment to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint

Venture'
Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Standards Accounting Standards — Volume 112
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements*
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability
Disclosures*
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2026.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027.

The application of the amendment to HKFRSs in the current
year had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years
and/or the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities (including
structured entities) controlled by the Company and its
subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

—  has power over the investee;
— is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and

—  has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E = F —UF+=-H=+—HIFFE

3.

74

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.1

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights
of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting
rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

—  the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relevant
to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
holders;

—  potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

—  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

— any additional facts and circumstances that indicate
that the Group has, or does not have, the current
ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that
decisions need to be made, including voting patterns
at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

North Mining Shares Company Limited Annual Report 2024

3.

EESHEESR @\

3.1

RERE (®)

MAEBRBIRES 2 REET
RAMGASH - BIEBZHEIN
BT H BB A ) BB I
REFZABEHE - BEEY

WIRET 2D - ZISEIEC%H
TEBRBEBRETZREER
ELA&H%ETEﬁ%%Jﬁﬁﬁﬁ*H%@
ZEEREBER - B

— *E%Tﬁfﬁ?mﬁfgﬁﬁ/\ﬁﬁﬁ
HEEZHERDEB
KEIHﬁZ&K%@E?

- AEBE - EUMBREESEA
KEMATREZEERR

T
- EHEMBAENTHELEZEMN:
K

- FEFHRER H X£EHA
RIRE K N BEfR 1B BRI &)
ZEMBIEEREBER (B
ERBERRAGZRER
WAL

RNEBRESH B R R EH R
HHBRRGZAEAR - TRKEX
PSR RIIE SR AR EAR A AR o
BEBEMs  RAFEAREARD
EZHMBRARIZEWERE © B
AEBEESHEA T?ﬂf%
BEAREERLEAHEHEEB
%A%aﬁﬁ&ﬁmiﬁWﬁﬁ
& o



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.1

3.2

Basis of consolidation (Continued)
Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated
subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s entity
therein. Non-controlling interests in the net assets consist
of the amount of those interests at the date of the original
business combination and the minority’s share of changes in
equity since the date of the combination. Losses applicable
to the minority in excess of the minority’s interest in the
subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the interests of the
Group except to the extent that the minority has a binding
obligation and is able to make an additional investment to
cover the losses.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition of a business represents the
excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest
in the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of the relevant business at the date of
acquisition. Such goodwill is carried at cost as established
at the date of acquisition of the business less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Capitalised goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business
is presented separately in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or group of
cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E = F —UF+=-H=+—HIFFE

3.

76

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

3.3

Goodwill (Continued)

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when
there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than
its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
unit and then to other assets of the unit pro rata based in the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset are measured as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
are recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset is
derecognised.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EEESTHREN W@

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.4 Financial instruments 34 €W T A
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the VHBEEMRMBHAEGEESEER
consolidated statement of financial position when a group MAETIAEAGHNEXHTHLEE
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the REEMBERRNBRPER -
instrument.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the NEEESBEXETHHREE
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities LU BABENRZRIRE - RYIF
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial REMEMBEESIVBAR
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial BAFEESREFR (ER) -
recognition.
(a) Financial assets (@ HMBEE

Classification and subsequent measurement of HHEEEN T BEREZEWG

financial assets k<)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are FETIEREOMBEEER

subsequently measured at amortised cost: BRI ARG E -

e the financial asset is held within a business e HHREmMAELMRS
model whose objective is to collect contractual MEMNEKEARE
cash flows; and ENMBEE &

e the contractual terms give rise on specified e HHBENIETEAH
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of EXEREREEAX
principal and interest on the principal amount NHREERE KA
outstanding. SREAE o
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E = F —UF+=-H=+—HIFFE

3.

78

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)
(@) Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application/
initial recognition of a financial asset, the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in OCI if that
equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in
a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)
(@) Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of

financial assets (Continued))

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose
of selling in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a

financial asset that are required to be measured at
the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL
if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an

accounting mismatch.

0

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and debt
instruments/receivables subsequently measured
at FVTOCI.

Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired (see below).
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E = F —UF+=-H=+—HIFFE

3.

80

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

) Amortised cost and interest income (Continued)

For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit
risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on
financial assets which are subject to impairment under
HKFRS 9 (including trade and other receivables, and
financial guarantee contracts. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions
at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed
individually for debtors with significant balances and/
or collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate
groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E = F —UF+=-H=+—HIFFE

3.

82

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)
(@) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
0 Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

. significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse

change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Y

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E = F —UF+=-H=+—HIFFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)
(@) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence
that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

(o) a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for

that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

V)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under
liguidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables,
when the amounts are over two years past due,
whichever occurs sooner.

Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E = F —UF+=-H=+—HIFFE

3.

86

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group
is required to make payments only in the event
of a default by the debtor in accordance with
the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed.
Accordingly, the expected losses are the present
value of the expected payments to reimburse
the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any
amounts that the Group expects to receive from
the holder, the debtor or any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts or on
loan commitments for which the effective interest
rate cannot be determined, the Group will apply
a discount rate that reflects the current market
assessment of the time value of money and the
risks that are specific to the cash flows but only
if, and to the extent that, the risks are taken into
account by adjusting the discount rate instead of
adjusting the cash shortfalls being discounted.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(a)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or
cater for cases where evidence at the individual
instrument level may not yet be available, the
financial instruments are grouped on past due
analysis:

° Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the
Group’s trade and other receivables are
each assessed as a separate group;

° Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E = F —UF+=-H=+—HIFFE

3.

88

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss
allowances are recognised at the higher of the
amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and the amount
initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amount of income recognised over
the guarantee period.

Except for investments in debt instruments/
receivables that are measured at FVTOCI, the
Group recognises an impairment gains or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through
a loss allowance account. For investments in
debt instruments that are measured at FVTOCI,
the loss allowance is recognised in OCI| and
accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve without
reducing the carrying amount of these debt
instruments/receivables.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)

(b)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payable
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that
requires the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payments when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured
initially at their fair values. It is subsequently measured
at the higher of:

° the amount of the loss allowance determined
in accordance with HKFRS 9 (since 1 January
2018)/IFRS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets (before application of
HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018); and

° the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised
over the guarantee period.

3.

ERERERERN W

34 £@MIA (@)

(b)

MBEEERES
PEBEELELR
EHEkERTIADRESL
ZHNELEARTR —BMK
BEM-—BERESTANER
DRERMBEAEIESR -

BEBHELA B EEE
MHas (BREMNERRLE
AR A BBRFIXZE
REMHRAEREE -

HMBEREXN
MBERAEOTDEL AR
BAXNEESE - UHE

HAABRIEEER AR
1848 1 7 T A 5 500 B S0
REMEZMAK - BBHE
RAVABENSREATE
HE - HERUTEERS
EHE

e REEFEEUBHEE
AlFoR (A =F — N
F-RA—RA&) JEEK
Bt 7% ¥ & % B 375
[EtE LBFRELEK
BEE] (R=ZF—AN
F-A-—BERBRFR
B S ERFOR 2
Al BEEMREREZ
TR

s VIHHERBZEBRE
(mEm) RERBA
MRZAFHFENE
# e

B ERBERRAT 2024 £ 89



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E = F —UF+=-H=+—HIFFE

3.

90

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.5 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure
incurred after the property, plant and equipment have been
put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the profit or loss in the period in which it
is incurred. In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated
that the expenditure has resulted in an increase in the future
economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use
of the property, plant and equipment, the expenditure is
capitalised as an additional cost of that asset.

Depreciation is recognised to write off the cost of property,
plant and equipment, using the straight line method, over
their estimated useful lives. The principal annual rates are as
follows:

Mining structure and building, plant and 10 to 20 years

machinery

Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles

5to 10 years
3to 5 years

The gain or loss arising from disposal of an asset is
determined as the difference between the sale proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the
profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.6 Ownership interests in leasehold land and

building

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented as
“right-of-use assets” (upon application of HKFRS 16) or
“prepaid lease payments” (before application of HKFRS 16)
in the consolidated statement of financial position. When
the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between
non-lease building element and undivided interest in the
underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are classified
as property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E = F —UF+=-H=+—HIFFE

3.

92

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.7

3.8

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.
A provision for impairment of trade and other receivables is
established when there is objective evidence that the Group
will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the
original terms of receivables. The amount of the provision
is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted
at the effective interest rate. The amount of the provision
is recognised in the consolidated profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Mining rights

Mining rights acquired separately are initially measured at
cost. Mining rights are reclassified from exploration and
evaluation assets at the carrying amount when the technical
feasibility and commercial viability of extracting mineral
resources are demonstrable. Mining rights with finite useful
lives are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and
any identified impairment loss. Amortisation for mining rights
with finite useful lives is provided using the unit of production
method based on the actual production volume over the
estimated total proved and probable reserves of the mineral
mines.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.9 Current assets and current liabilities
Current assets are expected to be realised within twelve
months of the end of reporting period or in the normal course
of the Group’s operating cycle. Current liabilities are expected
to be settled within twelve months of the end of reporting
period or in the normal course of the Group’s operating
cycle.

3.10Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
method.

3.11 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@  cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b)  cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months or less),
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to
a known amount of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents
are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or other
purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents as defined above, and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E = F —UF+=-H=+—HIFFE

3.

94

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.12Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired or except in the case of
goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have been decreased:

— Property, plant and equipment

— Right-of-use assets

— Prepaid lease payments

— Mining rights

[f any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. In addition, for intangible assets that are not yet
available for use and intangible assets that have indefinite
useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated annually
whether or not there is any indication of impairment.

—  Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of
its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent of those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)
3.12Impairment of other assets (Continued)

Recognition of impairment loss

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
whenever the carrying amount of an asset, or the
cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in
respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated
to the cash-generating unit (or group of units) and
then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets
in the unit (or group of units) on a pro-rata basis,
except that the carrying amount of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair value less costs to sell,
or value in use, if determinable.

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment
loss is reversed if there has been a favorable change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill
is not reversible. A reversal of an impairment loss
is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in which
the reversals are recognised.

3.13Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or

as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of

the goods or services underlying the particular performance

obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or

a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of

distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

3.

ERERERERN W

3125@%&»&@(@)

BEABEER
BEEZEEEREMBZ
ReELBEMBBEATKD
THE - ARERERRE
BE - RRESELBEMER
ZREEBREETUADE
ARENEERSEEEN
(k—HEM) 2EMEER
HE - HEEBRLHIREZ
B (k—#HEML) AEM
BEZKREE H HEEEZR
8 A AR =R R E E R A
FERODERANKEREE
(AT HESE) o

- RBEBERD
MEBEUIINZEEME © W
AREE AW E S8 2 &t
HRBEMNES - AREREIE
TLAED - mEZEERRE
AFED - REBEELR
RZEEEBEFEL ERE
RBMEEETZEREE - R
BEBAROERRED L F
B ABER -

.13 R W =
REEFEHNZ W
RAEE B M % & £ RIF165% -

AEERTHRBENEER (ki)
RN IR EBNEER
MM mEmE RGH (6] 8
TEPE -

BHEEREAIEREINE-—BmkK
R (A —HEMIRE) X—F
FURBARRE AT R 0 & m ek iR o

B ERBERRAT 2024 £ 95
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E = F —UF+=-H=+—HIFFE

3.

96

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.13Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is
assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.13Revenue recognition (Continued)

Contracts with multiple performance obligations
(including allocation of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance
obligations (to specify), the Group allocates the transaction
price to each performance obligation on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service
underlying each performance obligation is determined at
contract inception. It represents the price at which the
Group would sell a promised good or service separately
to a customer. If a stand-alone selling price is not directly
observable, the Group estimates it using appropriate
techniques such that the transaction price ultimately
allocated to any performance obligation reflects the amount
of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring the promised goods or services to
the customer.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method, which is
to recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s efforts
or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance obligation
relative to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of
that performance obligation, that best depict the Group’s
performance in transferring control of goods or services.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E = F —UF+=-H=+—HIFFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EESHREN W
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.13Revenue recognition (Continued) 3.13ER K= (&)

Costs to fulfil a contract BTEHNZHEE

The Group incurs costs to fulfil a contract in its construction REBREBEEENPELERETT

contracts. The Group first assesses whether these costs BHZHRAEA -  AEEHLIREH

qualify for recognition as an asset in terms of other relevant A ERFEZEREARES S

Standards, failing which it recognises an asset for these BERBRAREE - MTEEK -

costs only if they meet all of the following criteria: BEREUT2HGEEERAEZ

EXRABRREE

(@ the costs relate directly to a contract or to an (@ AR AEAREE ] RE M
anticipated contract that the Group can specifically BHAZEHNKTBEREI L2 E
identify; MEEEBRIE

(b)  the costs generate or enhance resources of the Group () BEAKASAKEEKART
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy) B (KFBETK) BERBERX
performance obligations in the future; and ERCZERSUAEELELXBM

= Rk

(€)  the costs are expected to be recovered. (© BEEKATEEAYE -

The asset so recognised is subsequently amortised to profit HIEBAZEEHEBERGMUE

or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the E(HEEABRFPFEZREEAEINE

transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which mek AR — B REEEHE - %

the assets relate. The asset is subject to impairment review. BEAETHRER -
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.14Foreign currencies

(i)

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HK dollars, which
is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.

Transaction and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, except when deferred in equity as qualifying
cash flow hedges or qualifying net investment hedges.

Translation differences on non-monetary items, such
as equity instruments held at fair value through profit or
loss, are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss.
Translation difference on non-monetary items, such as
equities classified as available-for-sale financial assets,
are included in the fair value reserve in equity.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E = F —UF+=-H=+—HIFFE

3.

100

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.14Foreign currencies (Continued)

(iii)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(1)  assets and liabilities for each financial position
presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that balance sheet;

(2) income and expenses for each statement of
profit or loss are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the
rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated
at the dates of the transactions); and

(8)  all resulting exchange differences are recognised
as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of the net investment in foreign entities,
and of borrowings and other currency instruments
designated as hedges of such investments, are taken
to shareholders’ equity. When a foreign operation is
sold, such exchange differences are recognised in the
consolidated income statement as part of the gain or
loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.15Lease

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components, including contract for acquisition
of ownership interests of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building components, unless
such allocation cannot be made reliably.

As a practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics
are accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group
reasonably expects that the effects on the consolidated
financial statements would not differ materially from individual
leases within the portfolio.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

102

3.15Lease (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

— the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

— any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received; and

— any initial direct costs incurred by the Group.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.15Lease (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include fixed lease payments (including
in-substance fixed payments).

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset)
whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which
case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised discount
rate at the date of reassessment; and

° the lease payments change due to changes in
expected payment under a guaranteed residual value,
in which cases the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using the
initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.15Lease (Continued)

104

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term except for investment properties
measured under fair value model. Variable lease payments
with reference to revenue generated by tenants are
recognised as income when they arise.

3.16 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost
of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

3.17 Employee benefits

(i) Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, leave
passage and the cost to the Group of non-monetary
benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees of the Group.
Where payment or settlement is deferred and the effect
would be material, these amounts are stated at their
present values.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.17 Employee benefits (Continued)

(ii) Contributions to Mandatory Provident Funds as
required under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance and to the state-managed
retirement benefits schemes for the employees of
the Group’s overseas entities are recognised as an
expense in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as incurred.

(i) ~ Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a result
of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed formal
plan which is without realistic possibility of withdrawal.

(v) The Group issues equity-settled share-based
payments to certain directors and employees.
Equity-settled share-based payments are measured
at fair value (excluding the effect of non-market-based
vesting condition) of the equity instruments at the date
of grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of
the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based
on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually
vest.

3.18 Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit is the profit for the year, determined
in accordance with the rules established by the taxation
authorities, upon which income taxes are payable.
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3.

106

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.18 Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable
on differences between the carrying amount of assets and
liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and
is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised
for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary difference can be utilised.
Such deferred assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the tax profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investment in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Company is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
each end of reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the year when the liability is settled or the asset is
realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited in profit or loss,
except when it relates to items charged or credited directly
to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in
equity.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.19Provisions

A provision is recognised when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and it
is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation. Where the effect of the
time value of money is material, the amount of a provision
is the present value at the end of reporting period of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.

3.20 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It
can also be a present obligation arising from past events
that is not recognised because it is not probable that outflow
of economic resources will be required or the amount
of obligation cannot be measured reliably. A contingent
liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, they will then be
recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past
events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group. A
contingent asset is not recognised but is disclosed in the
notes to the financial statements when an inflow of economic
benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually certain, an asset
is recognised.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E = F —UF+=-H=+—HIFFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.21 Related parties

For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements,
related parties include a person and an entity as defined
below:

(i) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(@  has control or joint control over the Group;

(b)  has significant influence over the Group;

(c) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Company or of a parent of the Company.

(i)  Anentity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if any
of the following conditions applies:

(@  the entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others);

(b)  either entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member);

108 North Mining Shares Company Limited Annual Report 2024
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.21 Related parties (Continued)
(Continued)

(i)

()

both entities are joint ventures of a third entity;

either entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Company or an entity related to the Company.
If the reporting entity is itself such a plan, the
sponsoring employers are also related to the
plan;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (i);

a person identified in (i)(a) has significant voting
power in the entity;

the entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personal
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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4.

110

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if
the revision affects both current and future periods.

4.1 Provision for ECL on trade and bills

receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
and bills receivables. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments that
have similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer type and rating).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast
economic conditions (i.e. gross domestic products) are
expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to
an increased number of defaults, the historical default rates
are adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

41

4.2

4.3

Provision for ECL on trade and bills

receivables (Continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future.

Mineral resources

Mining rights are amortised using the unit of production
method based on the actual production volume over
the estimated total proved and probable reserve of the
molybdenum mines.

The process of estimating quantities of reserves is inherently
uncertain and complex. It requires significant judgment
and decision based on available geological, geophysical
engineering and economic data. These estimates may change
substantially as additional data from ongoing development
activities and production performance becomes available and
as economic conditions impacting mineral prices and costs
change. Reserve estimates are based on current production
forecasts, prices and economic conditions. The directors of
the Company exercise their judgments in estimating the total
proved and probable reserves of the molybdenum mines. If
the quantities of reserves are different from current estimates,
it will result in significant changes to amortisation of mining
rights and affect the recoverable amount of exploration and
evaluation, from which a material loss may arise.

Net realisable values of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
costs of completion and selling expenses. These estimates
are based on the current market condition and the historical
experience of selling products of similar nature. It could
change significantly as a result of competitor actions in
response to severe industry cycles. Management will
reassess the estimations at the end of the reporting period.
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4.

112

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)
4.4 Impairment of property, plant and

equipment, the right-of-use assets and the
mining rights

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and mining
rights are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any. In determining whether
an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise judgment and
make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event
has occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset value;
(2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported
by the recoverable amount, in the case of value in use, the net
present value of future cash flows which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate
key assumptions to be applied in estimating the value in use
including cash flow projections with appropriate discount rate.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the assets belong. Changing
the assumptions and estimates, including the percentage
change in revenue growth and gross profit margins in the cash
flow projections, could affect the recoverable amount.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of the property,
plant and equipment, the right-of-use assets and the mining
rights of the Group were approximately HK$474,365,000,
HK$29,049,000 and HK$526,860,000 net of accumulated
depreciation and impairment loss of approximately
HK$1,020,696,000, HK$73,482,000 and HK$2,421,788,000
respectively (2023: the carrying amount of the property, plant
and equipment and the right-of-use assets were approximately
HK$591,617,000, HK$37,023,000 and HK$782,369,000 net of
accumulated depreciation and impairment loss of approximately
HK$800,159,000, HK$69,168,000 and HK$2,271,541,000
respectively).
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.4

4.5

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment, the right-of-use assets and the
mining rights (Continued)

The recoverable amounts of the property, plant and equipment,
the right-of-use assets and the mining rights have been
determined by the management of the Group by value in use
calculation of the CGU to which these assets belong. Estimating
the value-in-use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the CGU and also to choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows.

Going concern consideration

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, apart
from those involving estimates, management has prepared the
consolidated financial statements on the assumption that the
Group will be able to operate as a going concern in the coming
year, which is a critical judgement that has the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements. The assessment of the going concern assumption
involves making a judgement by the directors of the Company,
at a particular point of time, about the future outcome of events
or conditions which are inherently uncertain. The directors of the
Company consider that the Group has the capability to continue
as a going concern and the major events or conditions, which
may give rise to business risks, that individually or collectively
may cast significant doubt upon the going concern assumption
are set out in note 1.3 to the consolidated financial statements.
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5. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 5. W kHEMWKA
An analysis of the Group’s revenue and other income is as follows: REBRRSEEMBAZDTET
2024 2023
—E_MmE —E-=4F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FBT
Continuing operations BESEEK
(@) Revenue recognised at a point in (@ RE-—BEHEER
time: Wi
Sales of molybdenum concentrate i & HE M 116,378 =
Sales of chemical products HELER 993,830 1,553,714
Sales of aluminium products i & IR E M@ 18 =
1,110,226 1,553,714
Revenue from sales of molybdenum concentrate and chemical HEERMEGNHEEREEERNIE
products are recognised when (or as) the control of the goods BIEEX —NHBERRN (KEEBR)
is transferred at a point in time. Revenue is recognised when R BRPESERNERERE
the customer obtains the physical possession or the legal title of RETEFEE  BARAEBEEBNNRK
the goods and the Group has present right to payment and the MIERNEMNT AT KRR ER - 8
collection of the consideration is probable. Sales of molybdenum MR - HEEBERBRIEER K
concentrate and chemical products are usually completed within R—FATK @+ BB B RS LR
one year, as permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price FISRAT I EBEIRERERBITAEY
allocated to the unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed. RIRK (B o
2024 2023
—E-NE —F-=
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Continuing operations BESEEK
(b) Otherincome: (b) HfwA :
Bank interest income RTF B A 50 39
Government grant IR FT B 5% 2,741 1,705
Sales of by-products (note) HEESD (M) 138 666
2,929 2,410
Note: Mt &
During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the government grants BHE-_T-_NER-_FE=-_=F+=-A=+—
are one-off with no specific condition attached for the both years. HIEFE  BFMHEA— KT - WEK

I0AE (A 55 FE R 1F -
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6. PROVISION FOR IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER 6.

RYEEERENRESRR

ECL &
2024 2023
ZTE-OF —E=F
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FER FA T
Continuing operations BESEER
Impairment of trade and other receivables TEEE EBE IR T ERERR
under ECL N E R R E (19,296) (17,278)
(19,296) (17,278)
7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES HitlBmREE
2024 2023
—E-NE —EF-=
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FET FAET
Continuing operations BRELSEEK
Amortisation of right-of-use assets FREEE#E (5,062) (5,887)
Provision loss on sales of obsolete inventories & ZEF S EEE B (46,992) (81,143)
Impairment on goodwill EEREEE = (13,403)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment  #1% - & & & & RE (147,503) (31,609)
Impairment on right-of-use assets CREEERE (1,020) (149)
Impairment on mining right RgEERE (215,715) (51,564)
(416,292) (183,755)
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8.

116

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating segments have been identified on the basis of internal
reports about components of the Group that are regularly reviewed
by the directors of the Company, which are also the chief operating
decision maker (the “CODM”), for the purpose of allocating
resources to segments and to assessing their performance.

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and services and two reportable
operating segments as follows:

(@) Mining operation: — Exploration of mineral mines
— Exploitation of molybdenum mines
(b) Chemical trading  Manufacturing and sale of chemical
operation: products
(c) Aluminium Sale of aluminium plate products

metal trading
operation

The management monitors the operating results of its business
units separately for the purpose of making decision about resource
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance
is evaluated based on operating profits or loss and is measured
consistently with operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial
statements. Information regarding the above segment is reported
below.
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. ZEEHR #
8.1 Operating segment information 81 ReESEER
Segment revenue and results TEWRRES
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_Z-_mME+=-A=+—H
LHEE
Continuing operations FEREEK

Sale of Trading of
Mining chemical aluminium
exploitation products products Total

WERK HECER HEHRE® st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THER TER TER TER

Revenue W =
Segment revenue 7 ER R 116,378 993,830 18 1,110,226
Results E 5
Segment results DHEEE (876,920) (53,005) (506) (430,431)
Unallocated corporate RO EATKRA

income 50
Finance costs A& R A (192,762)
Other gains or losses Hitt = RE 8 (5,062)
Impairment losses under FEHEEEEET

ECL, net WEEBEFE (19,296)
Unallocated corporate AOBmMATEX

expenses (6,822)
Loss before income tax BRATSH A EE (654,323)
Taxation B\ 80,089

Loss for the year from TEEFERYE
continuing operations (¥BEE (574,234)
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8.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
8.1 Operating segment information (Continued)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023

8. 7HER W)
81 BeEEER #)

PTHEWERESE (B)
Hz—_ZT-_=F+=-A=+—8H

IEEE
Continuing operations BERSEEL
Sale of
Mining chemical
exploitation products Total
BHERK HELER # st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
FAET FAT FAxT
Revenue I 2%
Segment revenue 2 = 1,533,714 1,533,714
Results E
Segment results DEEE (151,905) (79,898) (231,803)
Unallocated corporate income P2l /NI N 304
Finance costs B & KA (132,193
Other gains or losses H ity 2= 5k B 18 (18,549)
Loss on debt restructuring BEEHEE (1,343,925)
Impairment losses under ECL, net FBHI(Z E & B8HE T~
WE R R (17,278)
Unallocated corporate expenses RKAOBEARMAX (29,313)
Loss before income tax bR BT 15 B4 A &5 18 (1,772,757)
Taxation B8 12,891
Loss for the year from continuing ~ NF BB KL ¥R
operations 518 (1,759,866)

(@  Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by
those segments and the expenses incurred by those
segments. Segment result represents the profit earned
or loss incurred by each segment without allocation
of corporate income and expenses, some amount
of other gains or losses, provision for or reversal of
impairment loss under ECL, net, central administrative
expenses, directors’ salaries and finance costs. This is
the measure reported to the CODM for the purpose of

resource allocation and performance assessment.
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8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

8.1 Operating segment information (Continued)
Segment assets and liabilities

Mining
exploitation

RS
HK$'000
TER

Asat 31 December 2024 RZ-Z-I&

8. ZEESR ®m

8.1 RESEEH |
PTHEEERAEE
Sale of Trading of
chemical aluminium

Unallocated Total
AAE @t
HK$'000 HK$’000

T TR

products
BEREMm
HK$’000
TER

products
HELER
HK$’000
TET

+ZA=+-H

Segment assets PEEE 1,272,711 249,451 2,405 13,698 1,538,265
Segment liabilities PEERE 999,018 1,068,242 1,594 40,279 2,109,133

Sale of

Mining chemical
exploitation products  Unallocated Total
BERAE HELBEM P2l # et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAxT FAT

As at 31 December 2023 W -Z ~ =4
+-—A=+—8

Segment assets DEEE 1,350,143 387,581 21,223 1,758,947
Segment liabilities NEBE 1,076,850 988,783 30,480 2,096,113
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8.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

8.1 Operating segment information (Continued)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)
For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and
allocating resources between segments:

—  all assets are allocated to reportable segments other
than assets used jointly reportable segments which are
classified as “Others” in segment assets.

— all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other
than liabilities for which reportable segments are jointly
liable and classified as “Others” in segment liabilities.

Other segment information

Mining

exploitation
BEHAR
HK$'000
FARL

Asat 31 December2024 R-ZE-M&

+=ZR=+-H
Depreciation and HEREBH
amortisation 73,701
Capital expenditures EXEX 144,304

8. ZEEHR #

8.1

Sale of
chemical
products

HELER
HK$’000
TER

35,699
2,940

RETBER |
SEAERAM (H)
BEZHSERARSEMERS
BmE

- HMEBEEEBSEZATHED
B(UHEsBEXRERAZ
BEGEDREETHOBER
[E A BIERSN) -

- HMBEEBHIEETHRED
B(AHEsBEARAEY
ENBAETHOBERIH
] B ERIERSN) o

<

Hitbn BEHR

Trading of

aluminium
products  Unallocated Total
BEERER RO E @t
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TERT TET

- 5,062 114,462
- - 147,244
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
8.1 Operating segment information (Continued)

8.2

Other segment information (Continued)

TRER @)
81 KEFHEN ()
HipHWER (H)

Trading of
Mining chemical
exploitation products  Unallocated Total
BERK BEBELLZEm KA #ET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET T T T T
As at 31 December 2023 HR_-Z - =4
+-A=+—8H
Depreciation and I E R
amortisation 38,833 36,178 5,146 80,157
Capital expenditures BEARRY 10,775 2,036 = 12,811

Geographical information

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of () the Group’s revenue from external
customers; and (ii) the Group’s current and non-current
assets. The geographical location of customers is based
on the location at which the goods were delivered. The
geographical location of the segment assets is based on the
physical location of the asset, in the case of mining rights, the
location of the operation to which they are allocated.

8.2 HEEH

TEREINEB: ()AKEREH
REPzZWE  RHAEEZR
BIERBEEMEHR ZEN -
EFMEMRBRXEEN ZME
o  DHEEMEMEBEREE
ERMAEHE D - MmREER
REBEMEE D -
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. ZEEHR @
8.2 Geographical information (Continued) 8.2 WEE R (@)
The Group’s operations are located in the following AEBZEBMURUATHE -
geographical areas. The following table provides an analysis XEINAEE MRS D 2 57|\
of the Group’s revenue from external customers and assets ERPWmREED

by geographical location:

Segment revenue from
external customers Segment assets

RENREF 29BN EH PHEE

2024 2023 2024 2023
CECNE e CECNE

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

TER FHET TERT FHT

Hong Kong ) - - 36 2,473
The PRC (country of domicile) # B (2% EER) 1,110,226 1,533,714 1,538,229 1,756,474

1,110,226 1,533,714 1,538,265 1,758,947

Information about major customers EREXEEZEFZEH
Revenue from customer individually contributing over 10% of EBERAE B LUEH10% A £
the total of revenue of the Group is as follows: MEPKZEMT
2024 2023
—E_MEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
Customer A (Chemical operation) BEPA (L2EREEXE) 133,197 N/A A~ 5 B
Customer B (Chemical operation) EFB (LE2EMmEBEEK) N/A =& B 163,385
Customer C (Chemical operation) EFC (tB2REBEK) N/A 738 B 158,791
Excepts for the customers stated above, there is no other BRI - HEEME -F
single customer contributing over 10% of total revenue. FRBKEI10% A £ -
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9.

10.

LOSS ON DEBT RESTRUCTURING

Pursuant to the restructuring agreement entered between the
Company and its creditors, on 27 September 2023, the Company
allotted and issued a total of 11,086,710,827 New Shares to its
creditors for settlement of their debt, and upon which all debts of its
creditors will be discharged and extinguished in full and its creditors
will not be allowed to make any claim against the Company
in respect of debts. Accordingly, loss on debt restructuring of
approximately HK$1,343,925,000 were recognised in profit or loss
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The market price of the issued share capital as at the date of

restructuring was HK$2,882,545,000 and the carrying amount of
the debt derecognised was HK$1,538,620,000.

FINANCE COSTS

10.

EXEAEE
BERAFABAEBEEARZT_=F
NAZTEtHITYUHEABSE &
RAIKMEEREAAS LR RET
11,086,710,827 /% 7 i LA #8575 H & -
BEREANMABEBE KB TEAER RE
B BEERATEREB AR AR
EEMRE - Bl - HEZTZ=F
TZAC=ST-BLEFEBEBEAEEYD
1,343,925,000/8 LN B F HER o

REAZTHEETRATER

2,882,545,0007% 7T & 4% |E FE R E S 0V BR
& A1,538,620,00078 7T °

BE & A

2024 2023
—E-MEF —T==
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHT
Continuing operations BESEER

Interest on bank loans and other borrowings B R T F AR HE & 2 B 17
wholly repayable within five years BERREMERZFE 191,907 64,481
Debt restructuring interest cost B EMHEF B AR - 66,814
Interest expenses for lease liabilities HEABEMNERX 855 898
192,762 132,193

IEHBERKOERAA 2024 FH

123



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E = F —UF+=-H=+—HIFFE

e

12.

124

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging:

M. RFAEHAEE

BRAAISRATEEEHBRATERRETE

2024 2023
—E-NEF —T-=%
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FBT
Continuing operations BELSEEK
Amortisation of mining right (note 1) RUEEE s (MsE1) 13,086 =
Auditor’s remuneration = BURD B & 900 1,000
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 2 A& = 2 7 & KA 968,726 1,441,307
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥ % - FiE L& &I E 95,585 74,270
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 2) FREEENE (:x2) 5,791 5,887
Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration) & TR A (BIEEEHE)
— Wages and salaries —TERY = 62,603 36,359
— Retirement benefit scheme contributions  — iR K48 #1| 5 & 4 3% 3,639 3,761
Impairment losses on mining rights (note 3) REgEmREEE (:E3) 215,715 51,564
Impairment losses on goodwill (note 3) mEREEE (W3Es) - 13,403
Impairment losses on right-of-use assets FREZERBEEBE (F3)
(note 3) 1,020 149
Impairment losses on property, plant and Mm% BELZBREBE
equipment (note 3) (Bt 3E3) 147,503 31,609
Notes: M5
(1) Included in cost of sales (1) EBitAHEERR
(2)  Included in cost of sales and other gains and losses 2 EBEABEEXNAREMKERER
(3)  Included in other gains and losses @ BirAthlmkEE
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 12. BRIEREEK
On 10 December 2015, the Group borrowed a loan from an RZZE—RAF+ZA+H  X&EER

independent creditor of RMB200,000,000 with annual interest rate
at 10% and repayable in two years. The loan was secured by (i)
the entire shares of the Group’s wholly owned subsidiary, namely
Shaanxi Luoyuan Trading Co., Limited (“Shaanxi Luoyuan”),
which own 60% equity interests in Luo Nan Xian Da Qin Jia Mining
Company Limited (“Da Qin Jia Mining”) (“Deemed Disposal
Group”); and (ii) the corporate guarantee provided by a subsidiary
of the Group. The major asset of the Deemed Disposal Group is an
exploration right of a Potassium Feldspar Mine located in Shaanxi,
the PRC, which had been expired in prior years. The Group had
already made full provision of the exploration rights when expired.
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12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued) 12. ERLEREXEL (90

Due to the liquidity position of the Group, the Group was unable
to settle the loan. The creditor then applied a to The Fourth
Intermediate People’s Court of Beijing (the “Court”) to go through
an auction process to sale the entire of equity interests of the
Deemed Disposal Group to recover the debts owned by the Group
(“Auction”).

The Court granted the permission for the auction request and
during the year ended 31 December 2024, an independent third
party, being the bidder of the Auction completed the auction
process and obtained the entire equity interests of the Deemed
Disposal Group, which was confirmed by the Court.

The directors of the Company obtained a legal advice and, in
the opinion that, upon the completion of the Auction which was
approved by the Court, the Group did not have control over the
Deemed Disposal Group and the corporate guarantee provided by
the non-wholly owned subsidiary was released.

HRAEENRBESKR - A&EE
REBEEER - BRAZAILERTSE
MR AREE ([ER]) BEETH
ERF UWHEBRFELHESEENZH
Atz MEEAEEESNE
% ([HEl) -

EGBAERBEER  REBEZE-_ZT N
F+ZA=+—"BLEFER —%8
NEZF (HEMNREAN) TRAER
FrUREBEELEERNZBRA
- MAERMTABR -

ARAREEFR/ERAER  IRAB/N
ERRMENRE KK AEEYLE
BERELESENZES®ZE M2
BB ARIIEHORBERITD B -

2024 2023
—E_MF 2=

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET T

Revenue &

Loss before taxation B AT B 1B = ©6)
Taxation BIE = =
Loss for the year AEEFEE - ©)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries & B A Az e 324,999 —
Profit/(Loss) for the year from discontinued ERIERE X 2 FE A

operations / (&18) 324,999 ©®)

The carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries
at the disposal date are disclosed in note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements.

ZEMBRRANEERRCEERER
BREEERGS M B RRHIEBHEE -
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12.

13.

126

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued) 12.

For the purpose of presenting the discontinued operations, certain
comparative figures in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income and the related notes have
been restated to present the results of the disposal group as
discontinued operations in the comparative period.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 13.

Remuneration of the directors of the Company disclosed pursuant
to the Listing Rules and Section 383(1) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

CRIEEEXER 80

MEJERLEREXRTME - K518
shHEpEERERZE THEREFER
HEAMEKEES K2 REERH
FERCRIEREXEB  HERBE X

==
oo

EEME
RE ETR A& EE R R KF 5383(1)
BWBEZARARREEME T ¢

2024 2023
—E-NEF —F=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FHET
Fees: we
Executive directors WITES - -
Independent non-executive directors BYENTES 220 57
220 57
Other emoluments: Him< :
Executive directors: WITES :
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind Fe  EFUREKEYIZ 1,048 770
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RAKTE BT 814 3% 18 -
1,066 770
1,286 827
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13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued) 13. EEM £ @)
For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no emolument BHE-ZE-_NEFRERZTE=F+T=ZA
was paid by the Group to the directors of the Company as an =t+—BLEFE  AEETEREARQ
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation AESINAMNMSIERAREMBARE

for loss of office.

ST I B 32 A 2 FRIE X 1E A B B A
=0
Retirement benefit scheme
Fees Salaries and other benefits contributions Total
he FEREMER BRERTEMER &3t
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Syl T —F Eebdalibal CT - —F Eeddelibiy —T -4 Eebdeibay T %
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TH R TET TER TET TER TAET TAR TAT

Executive directors HiTESE

Qian Yi Dong B g = 476 320 18 = 494 320

Yang Ying Min BER - - 572 450 - - 572 450

Shen Jian el - - - - - - - -

Huang Zhidan' BE - - - - - - - 5

= = 1,048 770 18 S 1,066 770

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their FRATESTTHNNARSREERELR

services in connection with the management of the affairs of the AIRASEEEHMEHRERBEMEDL -

Company and the Group.

Independent non-executive BUFHTEE

directors

Shek Man Hos AXES 120 31 - - - - 120 31

Shen Ming Jie® TBAS 50 13 - - - - 50 13

Feng Jia Wei BEE 50 13 - - - - 50 13
220 57 = = - = 220 57

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown TR BURTESHFNDARSEHMA

above were for their services as directors of the Company. AAREEREERBMEL -
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13.

128

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

1 Huang Zhidan has been appointed as an executive Director with
effect from 29 November 2023.

2 Shek Man Ho has been appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 29 November 2023.

3 Shen Ming Jie has been appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 29 November 2023.

4 Feng Jia Wei has been appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 29 November 2023.

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, remunerations
of all directors of the Company fall within Nil to HK$2,000,000.

There were no arrangements under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2023: Nil).
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14. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 14. EE %M

The five highest paid employees during the year included two (2023:
two) directors, details for whose remuneration are set out in Note
13 above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining three (2023:
two) highest paid, non-director employees are as follows:

FARLEERTMEIBREME (ZF
ZEF WMB)EE BHEZWeFE
AR EXHEIS e # =% (ZE==
F:-MB)FEEHZRTMEIZMHE
HBHT

2024 2023

—E-E —EZ=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FB T

Salaries and other benefits Fe REAMET 1,278 705
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIRBAETEI R R - 12
1,278 717

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, remunerations
of highest paid, non-director employees fall within Nil to
HK$1,000,000.

Retirement benefit scheme

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement
scheme administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF
Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to
make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
Contributions to the scheme vest immediately.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiary in the PRC are
members of the state-sponsored retirement benefit scheme
organised by the relevant local government authority in the PRC.
The subsidiary is required to contribute, based on a certain
percentage of the basic salary of its employees, to the retirement
benefit scheme and has no further obligations for the actual
payment of pensions or postretirement benefits beyond the annual
contributions. The state-sponsored retirement benefit scheme
represent for the entire pension obligations payable to retired
employees.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E = F —UF+=-H=+—HIFFE

15. TAXATION — CREDIT 15. B — ER

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made since
the Group incurred taxation losses for the year. Taxes on profits
assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the prevailing rates
of tax based on existing legislation, interpretations and practices.

HRAEEFAEEHREBRE - R
ERBERANGHAREE  HttbR
ZERBENHRBECRERB AN
REREAZBRITHEGH -

2024 2023
—E_NEF —E =4
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAET

Continuing operations BESEEK
Deferred tax EAER IR 80,089 12,891

Current tax: BNEA®L IR :

PRC corporate income tax FREMEMSRH - =
80,089 12,891

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) on the
estimated assessable profit for the year ended 31 December 2024.
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made since the
Group incurred taxation losses for the year ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

PRC corporate income tax charge represents the PRC Enterprise
Income Tax paid or payable during the year. Enterprise Income
Tax has been provided on the estimated assessable profits of
subsidiaries operating in the PRC at 25% (2023: 25%).

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the
prevailing rate of tax based on existing legislation, interpretations
and practices.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

15. TAXATION — CREDIT (Continued)

15.

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss before income

tax using the statutory rates for the tax jurisdictions in which the
Company and its subsidiaries are domiciled is as follows:

BIE — K% (8
ERRAEDAREMB D ARFERS
RUAERRORE B H 2 B B RA
BRRERIHEMT -

2024 2023
—E-F —T_—=
HK$°000 HK$’000
FER FA T

Continuing operations BEREXEK
Loss before taxation b B A B 18 (249,235) (1,772,763)
Tax at the statutory tax rates ?ﬁ EEBMEGFE 2B (127,827) (305,777)
Tax effect of income not taxable BEARBTBRAZH G E

for tax purpose (2,152) (82)
Tax effect of expense not deductible ANABAST oG8

for tax purpose 138,572 277,945
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses RERRBEREZUETE 11,502 2
Tax effect of temporary difference TR o BETE 59,994 40,803
Tax for the year REEZHEA 80,089 12,891

16. DIVIDENDS 16. K&

The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of ARREETEZRBEZ_FT_MF

any final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2024

(2023: Nil).

T+ A=+—BLEFERMEMKIFR
B(ZE-=F: &) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E = F —UF+=-H=+—HIFFE

17. LOSS PER SHARE 17.

(a) Basic loss per share
The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to the
owners of the Company is based on the following data:

BREE

(a)

BREXER
AAFAEAAEEESRERER
TR BT I B

2024 2023
—E_MNF —ET-=
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET F# T
(Restated)
(&E75)
(Loss)/Profit attributable to owners of R RA R #E A AEEFRK (Ei8)
the Company Ve %l
— from continuing operations —FEBEREER (195,236) (1,632,531)
— from discontinued operations —ERIEEEER 126,750 (@)
(68,486) (1,632,535)
Number of shares i 5 g B
Number of ordinary shares in issue FREFHTERREE

during the year

12,511,640,397 3,788,827,715

(b) Diluted loss per share
No diluted loss per share is presented as there were no
potential ordinary shares in issue for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: Nil).
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. ¥ - BMERZRHE
Mining Furniture &
structure and Plant and Fixtures  Construction

buildings Machinery  Motor Vehicle in progress Total

RELER B -
REE BERHE HRERAE EREIR At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET

Cost BA&

At 1 January 2023 R-E-_=%—-f—H 587,091 584,835 21,312 212,188 1,406,426
Addition whE 53 1,852 1,609 9,397 12,811
Disposal & - - ©) - ®)
Exchange adjustment EHAE (12,883) (12,836) (324) 412) (26,455)

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 R =—E - =F+-A=+—H

R-F-_pmFE-A—- 574,261 573,851 22,491 221,173 1,391,776
Addition whE 24,362 7,898 15,345 99,639 147,244
Transfer [ 61,577 19,207 - (80,784) -
Exchange adjustment ERAR (21,487 (20,313) (849) (1,310) (43,959)
At 31 December 2024 RZZ-ZWE+-A=+—H 638,713 580,643 36,987 238,718 1,495,061
Accumulated depreciation and EHFERRAE

impairment

At 1 January 2023 RZFE-=%5—R—H 174,328 320,227 16,993 193,936 705,484
Charge for the year FRMK 25,855 45,501 2,914 = 74,270
Written back on disposal & B B - - ©) - ©)
Impairment loss MEEE 20,591 9,427 - 1,591 31,609
Exchange adjustment ERTECE (3,878) (7,088) (231) () (11,198)

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 R=Z =%+ -A=+—H

k=—ZE-mF—-A—H 216,896 368,067 19,670 195,526 800,159
Charge for the year FRMB 45,896 47,356 2,333 = 95,585
Impairment loss REESR 96,887 40,595 - 10,021 147,503
Exchange adjustment 5 AR (8,380) (13,620) (495) (56) (22,551)
At 31 December 2024 RZF-mE+=A=1+-H 351,299 442,398 21,508 205,491 1,020,696
Carrying amount EHE
At 31 December 2024 RZFZmE+=-A=1+—H 287,414 138,245 15,479 33,227 474,365
At 31 December 2023 RZF==%+=-A=1+—H 357,365 205,784 2,821 25,647 591,617
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18.

134

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
As at 31 December 2024, mining structure and buildings and plant
and machinery with aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$27,647,000 (2023: approximately HK$57,268,000) were
pledged for bank loans.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment of approximately HK$414,527,000
(2023: approximately HK$496,824,000) and approximately
HK$59,832,000 (2023: approximately HK$94,793,000) were
allocated to the Molybdenum Mining cash-generating unit
(“Molybdenum Mining CGU”) and trading of chemical products
cash-generating unit (“Chemical Products CGU”) respectively.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group determined the recoverable
amounts of Molybdenum Mining CGU and Chemical Products
CGU based on value-in-use calculation. That calculation used
cash flows projections based on financial budgets as approved by
management covering a 5-year period, and () at a discount rate
of 156.5% and 13% (2023: 16% and 13%) for Molybdenum Mining
CGU and Chemical Products CGU respectively and (i) at a growth
rate of 1.5% and 2% (2023: 1% and 5%) for Molybdenum Mining
CGU and Chemical Products CGU respectively. An impairment
loss on property, plant and equipment of Molybdenum Mining
CGU of approximately HK$147,503,000 have been provided
in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: Molybdenum Mining CGU of approximately
HK$30,818,000).

No impairment loss on property, plant and equipment of Chemical
Products CGU for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
approximately HK$791,000).
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

19. MINING RIGHTS 19. KIERE
2024 2023
—E_MF ZEZ=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
T & T FHE T
Costs: AR
At 1 January n—A—H 3,053,910 3,122,429
Exchange realignment E 5 (105,262) (68,519)
At 31 December Rt+-—A=+—H 2,948,648 3,053,910
Accumulated amortisation and ZtBERBERE:
impairment loss:
At 1 January ®n—A—H 2,271,541 2,269,844
Amortisation #iH 13,086 =
Impairment loss BIEEE 215,715 51,564
Exchange realignment PE WA (78,554) (49,867)
At 31 December ®W+=—A=+—H 2,421,788 2,271,541
Carrying amount: BREE:
At 31 December R+=ZA=+—8H 526,860 782,369
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19.

136

MINING RIGHTS (Continued)
Molybdenum Mine

The Group has an exploitation right in respect of a molybdenum
mine located at Xi Ban Cha Gou, Huanglongpu Village, Shimen
Town, Luonan County, Shaanxi Province, the PRC (“Shaanxi
Molybdenum Mine”) issued by Land and Resources Bureau of
Shaanxi Province, the PRC. The exploitation right was allocated to
the Group’s Molybdenum Mining CGU.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group determined the
recoverable amounts of Molybdenum Mining CGU based on value-
in-use calculation. That calculation used cash flows projections
based on financial budgets as approved by management covering
a 5-year period, and (i) at a discount rate of 15.5% (2023: 16%).
and (i) at a growth rate of 1.5% (2023: 2%). An impairment loss
on mining right of Molybdenum Mining CGU of approximately
HK$215,715,000 has been provided in the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 (20283:
approximately HK$51,564,000).
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

20. PREPAYMENT 20. FEfRIE

2024 2023
—E-NE —EC=F
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
B = FHET FBT

Prepayment of property, plantand %1% - B&E KR & BN 1A
equipment 43,663 23,122
Investment deposit "ERS 1 = 3,084
43,663 26,206

On 22 November 2023, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company (the “Purchaser”), entered into the Equity Transfer
Agreements with two vendors pursuant to which each of vendors
conditionally agreed to sell their respective equity interest of 51%
and 49% of the target company for an aggregate consideration
of RMB1,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$1,101,000) to
the Purchaser. In-addition to the consideration, the Purchaser had
invested approximately HK$1,982,000 as working capital of the
target company (“Acquisition”).

On 28 March 2024, the Company completed the Acquisition. The
principal activities of the target company is engaged in the sale of
non-ferrous metals.

In view of recent economy downturn and the overall economic
landscape of the PRC’s non-ferrous metal industry is very
competitive, as a new competitor in the market, the Group faced
pressure on financing to develop the non-ferrous metal business.
After careful consideration by the directors of the Company, in
particular, the Group’s liquidity position, the Group decided not to
develop the non-ferrous metal business and therefore, the Group
cancelled the Acquisition and transfer the equity interests of the
target company back to the vendor, at zero consideration. The
equity transfer was completed on 29 July 2024. Since the Group’s
cooperation with the target company was not materialised, and the
amount of expenses incurred during this year was immaterial, the
directors of the Company did not consolidate the target’s financial
information to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E = F —UF+=-H=+—HIFFE

21. INVENTORIES 21. BE
2024 2023
—E-_mE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHBT
Raw material R+ 65,131 111,435
Work in progress TR 4,497 2,520
Finished goods S5 o 236,502 38,587
Semi-finished * K M 11,819 3,634
317,949 156,176

FARKBEBRHELERBAR
in respect of mining operations and sale of chemical products i fas Zﬁ 5 B AN & $ 49982,541,0007% T
were totally approximately HK$982,541,000 (2023: approximately — T~ =4 : #1,441,307,000/8 7T) -
HK$1,441,307,000). No provision was recognised in profit or Ek?: E_NF+—A=+—HBLFE
loss for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: approximately REREREBER (ZZE-_=F: 4
HK$3,319,000). 3,319,000/5557E) C

The cost of inventories recognised as expense during the year

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES 22, FEWER
2024 2023
—F-@ImE —F-=

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHExT F T

Trade receivables JFE R BR X 47,685 118,486
Less: Allowance for credit losses W EEBBEREMG (2,540) (2,485)
45,145 116,001

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, trade receivables from
contracts with customers amounted to HK$47,685,000 and
HK$118,486,000, respectively.

—_E_NER_ZTE_=ZF+=A
+ H RERXFAHZEKIER
Rl /&47,685,00078 T 118,486,000/

FH DI
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 22.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables presented
based on dates of delivery of goods.

FE WL AR FR ()
AT AREE QX B 82 5 80 8 4R
ROER AT -

2024 2023
—B-NF —¥F_=

HK$°000 HK$'000

TER TAET

0-30 days 0-30H 16,760 22,883
31-60 days 31-60H 12,477 52,990
61-90 days 61-90H 9,039 35,067
91-180 days 91-180H 363 4,610
Over 180 days #1180 H 6,506 451
45,145 116,001

For the year ended 31 December 2024, trade debtors that were not
impaired nor past due related to customers for whom there was no
recent history of default. Based on experience, management believe
that no impairment loss shall be recognised for trade debtors that
not yet past due as there has not been a significant change in credit
quality and the balances are still considered recoverable (2023: Nil).

The directors of the Company consider that the fair values of
trade receivables are not materially different from their carrying
value because these amounts have short maturity period on their
inception.

Details of the impairment assessment of trade receivable are set
out in note 36(b) to the consolidated financial statements.
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22.

23.

24.

140

TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

For the Group’s mining operation, sales of molybdenum
concentrates are largely on cash basis with no credit terms being
granted to customers, except for sizable customers with good
credit history, the Group will allow a credit term not more than 30
days. For the Group’s chemical operation, the Group allow a credit
term of 30 days to 60 days to its customers.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

As at 31 December 2024, included in balance of prepayments,
deposits and other receivables were (i) prepayments for
purchase of inventories of approximately HK$44,098,000 (2023:
approximately HK$54,390,000); and (i) other receivables related to
mining operation and chemical trading operation of approximately
HK$41,889,000 (2023: approximately HK$12,346,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recognised
impairment losses of HK$19,153,000. At 31 December 2024,
the accumulated allowance for credit loss on other receivable
amounted to HK$14,405,000 (2023: HK$17,599,000).

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

22.

23.

24,

FE U BR R ()
RAKBZRBEBEME - HEHEB
MREZUBRSET  ABETEFPHE
MEER  EASEERTHEARY
FEELHIAUEF THIBOAEE
B RAEBZ2ELBREL A% H
BT HEPIEORFEER -

ANNRE - BEREMEKRK

Eﬁ

T ZWFEFZA=+—H  BH
FIE - B RHEMBERRESRPIE)E
ar 5 7 B 3k T8 444,098,000 7T (=
T — = 4 : #954,390,000% 7T) K (i)
HREEB R R BEE XS EEIEE0
2 H i & Uk 3k 4941,889,000/8 T (= &
~ =4 : 4912,346,00058 7T )

].

'Mﬁ

\

E-E N+ _A=+—HILHF
T - A& B R R E B 519,153,000
TeRZE-_MFE+_A=+—
H - HMBEKRROHEFEEEEAE
% /14,405,0008 T (= & = = & :
17,599,000/ L) °

o B

Re RIRITHE

Cash and bank balances

REeERBESEEY
2024 2023
—E-_MmEF —T==
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FHETT
15,247 5,941

(@  Bank balances carry interest at market rates which range
from 0.01% to 0.35% per annum (2023: 0.01% to 0.35%).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s bank balances and
cash denominated in RMB amounted to RMB14,306,000
equivalent to HK$15,212,000 (2023: RMB4,118,000 equivalent
to HK$4,535,000). Convention of RMB info foreign currencies
is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sales and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

25. SHARE CAPITAL 25. A
Number of shares Nominal value
2 & B GRS
Note ‘000 HK$'000
B &E F& FTHET
Authorised: ZEE
At 1 January 2023: —“E-=ZF#—HfF—RH:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.016 each BREE006E L Z LT ER 31,250,000 500,000
Share consolidation R & 6 1() (29,687,500) =
Share sub-division 5o E 1(ii) 23,437,500 -
At 31 December 2023, RZB_=ZF+ZH=+—-H "

1 January 2024 and —EIWFEF-A—HRK

31 December 2024: ZEZmFE+ZA=+—H:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each BREMERBETLZERK 25,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BITRHE :

At 1 January 2023: —E-=%—-fF—H:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.016 each BREECOIGE T Z L AR 23,370,386 373,926
Capital consolidation BRA B 1() (22,201,867) =
Capital reduction R A B R 1(i) - (350,556)
Subscription of shares BRI 2 256,410 5,128
Scheme Share issued B BT AR, 3 11,086,711 221,735
At 31 December 2023, RZB-Z=f+ZH=+—-H "

1 January 2024 and —EZEFE-A—HEK

31 December 2024 —E-WE+=ZA=+—8:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each BREE0.02E T2 Tl 12,511,640 250,233
Notes: BT

(1)  Pursuant to an special resolution passed by the shareholders
of the Company at the special general meeting of the

Company held.

(i) Share consolidation (“Share Consolidation”)

M REXAAFDBERRABITARF LG

BRERE L

BBZBRRER ©

@i) BRBEH (TREEHE])

every 20 issued and unissued Shares of par value of
HK$0.016 will be consolidated into 1 Consolidated Share of
par value of HK$0.32 each.

Fo0M & Ik E H0.016E T Z B
BARKBETRGEAHBIR
FREEIBEITLZE HFIRMD
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25. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Pursuant to an special resolution passed by the shareholders of
the Company at the special general meeting of the Company held.
(Continued)

142

m

@

(ii)

(il

(iv)

Capital reduction (“Capital Reduction”)

The Capital Reduction was effected immediately upon
the Share Consolidation becoming effective, the par value
of every issued Consolidated Share will be reduced from
HK$0.32 to HK$0.02 by the cancellation of the paid up
capital of the Company to the extent of HK$0.30 on each
issued Consolidated Share, giving rise to a credit balance
of approximately HK$350,555,794.20 on the basis of
1,168,519,314 Consolidated Shares then in issue. The credit
arising therefrom will be applied to set off the accumulated
loss of the Company, and the balance of the credit, if any,
will be transferred to the contributed surplus account of the
Company within the meaning of the Companies Act.

Share sub-division

Immediately following the Capital Reduction becoming
effective, each of the authorised but unissued Consolidated
Shares of HK$0.32 each will be sub-divided into 16 authorised
but unissued New Shares of HK$0.02 each.

Share premium (“Share Premium”)

The amount of HK$3,791,452,301 standing to the credit of the
Share Premium Account be reduced to nil and that the credit
arising therefrom be transferred to the contributed surplus
account of the Company within the meaning of the Companies
Act and will be applied to further set off the accumulated loss
of the Company.

The capital reorganisation was completed on 19 December
2023. Details of which are set out in the Company’s circular
dated 13 June 2023 and announcement dated 21 February
2023, 7 June 2023 and 12 September 2023.

Subscription of shares (“Subscription of Shares”)

Pursuant to the Restructuring Agreement, the Investor shall subscribe
for a total of 256,410,256 New Shares for a total subscription price
of HK$40,000,000, representing approximately HK$0.156 per New

Share.

The Subscription of Shares was completed on 29 September 2023.
Details of which are set out in the Company’s circular dated 13 June
2023 and announcement dated 21 February 2023, 7 June 2023,12
September 2023 and 19 September 2023.
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25. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

3) Scheme shares issue (“Scheme Share Issue”)

Upon the Scheme becoming effective on 29 September 2023, the
Company will implement the Scheme Shares Issue, under which it is
estimated that the Company will allot and issue, in aggregate, a total
of 11,086,710,827 New Shares where the Creditors will receive 1
New Share for every HK$0.156 in the amount of the Admitted Claims
due to them by the Company in the event all the Admitted Claims
are proved and admitted in full. Where the Admitted Claims are not
proved and admitted in full, the number of Scheme Shares to be
received by each Creditor will be adjusted by dividing the amount of
the Admitted Claim of each Creditor with the total amount of Admitted
Claims under the Scheme, multiplied by the total of 11,086,710,827
New Shares, such that the Creditors will receive such number of New
Shares proportional to their respective Admitted Claims.

26. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

25. R (#)

B FEROGBT ([TEROIT])
FER_ZE_ZFALA-TABAER
& ARRABEEHRTERMDET
Bt BERTARARBEERETEH
11,086,710,827 38 ¥T Ik - i (E4E A 15 1%
AARERAESHNERTERESSE
0.15678 7 W BB 5T A%+ ATiR & AT
BERUBEEHE T FHRRA -
WERERERERTSFHARRA -
WXE%AM$WHWJ%h@%E
EEBSERANERITEESER
M+%ETWE A fE B EE R
4 #£11,086,710, 827Hxssﬁﬂx%mﬂ§w g
LEERABRESENERTER
LI ER B B FT AR ELE -

2. EEZEHEERE

Mining rights

PR FE

HK$'000

THT

At 1 January 2023 R-_ZE-_=%—H—H 237,384

Credit to profit or loss FFAERE (12,891)

Exchange realignment PE H % (5,195)
At 31 December 2023 and RZZEZ=F+-A=+—8BXK

1 January 2024 —EZMF—-—HF—H 219,298

Credit to profit or loss FFAEE (80,089)

Exchange realignment BE 5 & (7,494)

At 31 December 2024 R-ZZE_WE+-_A=+—H 131,715

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any significant
unprovided deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward
to the extent that the realisation of the related benefit through the
future possible profit in probable. The Group did not recognise tax
losses amounting to HK$719,361,000 (2023: HK$652,326,000)
that can be carried forward against future taxable income. These
tax losses will expire from 2025 to 2029 (2023: 2024 to 2028).

B EHliEEEN  RZZT_NMNF+ =
A=+—8 A£EHMETANEREX
BEEELHBEEBE (ZT_=F &) -

FENNABEAIERARELEREE
F ? ’\"EZEL‘AET%%@*PKFE%H/@

5’/‘7% ELME&%%E:W%%%M&A&E
M IE B 18719,361,0008 T (—ZE - =
F : 652,326,000/ L) © WEHIEEE
BR_E_RAFE_Z_NFHHEEH
. J st SNl L F - s e 3
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27. TRADE PAYABLES 27. ERER®
2024 2023
—E-MmF =T==
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T T
0-30 days 0-30H 89,751 219,617
31-60 days 31-60H 52,440 15
61-90 days 61-90H 15,569 102,957
91-180 days 91-180H 621 14,822
Over 180 days #180H 106,317 36,587
264,698 373,998
The aged analysis of trade payables presented based on invoice RBEBRARZEFERZERRD TR
date at the end of the reporting period. BEZEHHEY -
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts ARBIEERR  ENEXRNEEE
of trade payables approximate to their fair values at the end of HANRERRZATFERES °

reporting period.

28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 28. HttEN R KRETER
2024 2023
“E-F —E-=
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FET THET
Current liabilities e AR
— Other payables and accruals (note a) —HMENRRETER (Ma) 720,692 682,241
720,692 682,241
(a) As at 31 December 2024, other payables and accruals include (a) RZE-_NF+=ZA=+—8 " H
interests payable of approximately HK$379,484,000 (2023: tmENRREFEABEENMNT R
HK$348,713,000) and amounts due to the minority shareholders #)379,484,000%8 T (= & = = & :
and directors of the Group’s subsidiaries of HK$1,169,000 (2023: 348,713,000/ jT) - M FE 1~ A & B M
HK$8,105,000) which are unsecured, interest free and repayable B QA AR K E E 1,169,000
within one year. The directors of the Company consider that the BT (ZE=Z=% :8,105000%& L) &
carrying amounts of other payables and accruals approximate to their mEH - EFNEEER-—FREE -
fair values at the end of reporting period. ARAEESRABEMENRREFE
AzEEERERBFEHRZAFE

BE -
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29.

30.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

ﬁ‘ﬁ'gzr)\ ﬂﬁ‘fﬂ'a')\

2024 2023
—E-E —F_-=
HK$’000 HK$ OOO
Interest bearing bank loans, FFEFIE #F RITERK
secured and other borrowings H fth & ™
Current portion mENER D 409,079 669,415
Non-current portion R 17,652 27,533
426,731 696,948
As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s interest-bearing bank loans RZBEZ=F+ZA=+—8  K&&

and other borrowings were carried at effective interest rates from
6.09% to 15% (2023: from 6.09% to 15%) per annum and were
secured by (i) guarantees from corporate companies; (i) pledged
of property, plant and equipment (note 18); and (i) guarantees
from subsidiaries of the Group and the subsidiary’s minority
shareholders.

As at 31 December 2024, certain borrowings of the Group
with principal balance of HK$357,187,000 became default and
repayment on demand under the circumstance. Accordingly, the
borrowings are classified as current liabilities in the consolidated
financial position of the Group.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

30.

+%§E TERREMERZERFF

RN FB0I%EIEN(ZTE-_=ZF : N F
609%i30%) LAV 3 A B 2 AR ¢ (i)
BHZWE  BERREME17): Fa(ii
AEENBARENBRAR Z P HBER
fEER 2 JEIR -

W_ZE-_=ZF+-_A=+—8" ZISEI
7N % 4% 85 357,187,000 7T H & T 1 &
REZBERATEHWIRBERKEE - At
ERRAEBGEUBRADBERE
BfE -

BHNERE

nnk

BHEE

Contract liabilities

As at 31 December 2024, contract liabilities represent advances
received from customers of approximately HK$558,381,000
(2023: approximately HK$116,206,000). During the year ended
31 December 2024, revenue of HK$110,217,000 (2023:
HK$118,569,000) was recognised, which related to carried-forward
contract liabilities, upon delivery of products.

The Group expects to deliver the goods to satisfy the remaining
performance obligations of these contract liabilities within one year
or less.

The increase in contract liabilities in the current year was mainly due
to certain of sales order were not completed and goods has not
been delivered at the end of the reporting date.

X #49558,381,000
i : i’7116 206, ooo;’é€

I 25110,217,000% 7T (
118,569,000/ jT) B B X

R e

AEFEBHRR —FHAARINEmARE
THZEANBBEZHRTENEE -

ZIKEFD“’] EEMEETHR®RER
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E = F —UF+=-H=+—HIFFE

31. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASES 3. FAREEREEAR
LIABILITIES
(a) Right-of-use assets (@ ERAREE
Properties Lands Total
/S Tt @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET TAEL
Cost: B
At 1 January 2023 W-E-=F—-HF—8 86,058 22,516 108,574
Exchange realignment ERa R (1,889) (494) (2,383)

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 WA-ZE-=F+-F=+—-HE

“E-NF¥—-A—H 84,169 22,022 106,191
Exchange realignment R (2,901) (759) (3,660)
At 31 December 2024 R-ZZE-mNE+=-A=+—-H 81,268 21,263 102,531
Accumulated depreciation: A2t E
At 1 January 2023 R-Z2-_=%—-AF—H 60,693 3,863 64,556
Charge for the year FRME 5,452 435 5,887
Exchange realignment X AR (1,338) (86) (1,424)

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZZZ=F+ZA=+—HE

—Z-_NF¥—-HA—H 64,807 4,212 69,019
Charge for the year FAME 5,363 428 5,791
Exchange realignment ERSE (2,339) (158) (2,497)
At 31 December 2024 RZT-NFE+=-A=+—H 67,831 4,482 72,313
Accumulated impairment loss 2 AEEE
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-=%—A—H - - -
Impairment loss REBE - (149) (149)

At 31 December 2023 and at 1 January 2024 RA-ZE-=F+-F=+—-HE

“E-mFE-R—H = (149) (149)
Impairment loss MEFE (1,020) - (1,020)
At 31 December 2024 R-_ZE-_m&E+-A=+—H (1,020) (149) (1,169)
Net carrying amount: BEFE:
At 31 December 2024 R-Z-ME+=A=t+-8 12,417 16,632 29,049
At 31 December 2023 R=ZE-_=%+-A=+—-H 19,362 17,661 37,023
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31. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASES
LIABILITIES (Continued)

(a) Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Impairment loss of right-of-use assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Group determined the
recoverable amounts of Molbdenum Mining CGU and
Chemical Products CGU based on value-in-use calculation.
That That calculation used cash flows projections based on
financial budgets as approved by management covering a
5-year period, and (i) at a discount rate of 15.5% and 13%
(2023: 16% and 13%) for Molybdenum Mining CGU and
Chemical Products CGU respectively and (i) at a growth rate
of 1.5% and 2% (2023: 1% and 4%) for Molybdenum Mining
CGU and Chemical Products CGU respectively.

An impairment loss on right-of-use assets of Molybdenum
Mining CGU of approximately HK$1,020,000 have been
provided in the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

No impairment loss on right-of-use assets of Chemical
Products CGU to be provided in the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
approximately HK$149,000).

IEHBERKOERAA 2024 FH

3. FHEEERHEES RS @)

(@ FAEEE @

FRAEEERERSE
RZZE-_WmFE+=—A=+—8 "
REBZUFERAEETEETE R
BESELEMRILBRREE
Bz ARkESE -  BHETE
FRHTENREEEMNENRER
FHrUVBEERELMNRER
EBA - ROEBRESELEN
M2 RBESEFBEMZ IR E
72 BI15.5% Kk13% (Z T = = F
16% &% 13%)  R(i)HBEHR S EE
BUtERESELEMER
RO R1.5% k2% (ZTE-=F:
1% K4%) 5T & o

HE-_Z-_M&E+-A=+—H
IFFEZHREMBHREDIRE
BReELXEMNZFERAREEER
B 548 491,020,000 7C (Z T ==
FF) o

HEz-_FT-_mE+=-A=+—H
IFEZHEEVBHRERIL &R
TtERREEEBENZFRE
BEREBEEBB(ZZEZ_=ZF:4%
149,000/ 7T) ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E = F —UF+=-H=+—HIFFE

31. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASES
LIABILITIES (Continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

31.

FRAEEERHEESE @

b) HEAE
PAARCH D ETeTog o1l At 31 December
2024 2023
RoZS-—mE B et
+=A +=A
=t+-—8 =+—~H

ICECHIAVEIIEY @l Present value of

minimum lease

minimum lease

payments payments
BREAEMNR BEEREE-ENE
MR E # IR E
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Within one year —F R 283 260
After one year but within five years —FEBEREER 1,540 1,415
Over five years HBiEAF 5,093 5,747
6,916 7,422
Less: Amount due for settlement within B AR RB A G TR12(E
12 months shown under current AARHENN 8
liabilities (283) (260)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months Il 7 3E 7 &) & & T 1218 A
shown under non-current liabilities BEHEMNN SR 6,633 7,162

The Group leases offices and lands in several places. The
leases typically run for a period of 2 to 43 years. Lease
payments are renegotiated every one to two years to reflect
market rentals. For certain lease, the Group is restricted from
entering into any sub-lease arrangements.

The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities of
12.63%.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

31. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASES 3. FRAKEEREHEARS @)
LIABILITIES (Continued)
Amount recognised in profit or loss REZBRIANEE
2024 2023
—E_F ZEZ=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHE T FBT
Leases under HKFRS 16 ERAVMBHRELEAEI6EET
WHRE
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 855 898
For the year ended 31 December 2024, total cash outflow HE-_ZT-_NFEF+-A=+—HIEHF

it

in respect of lease recognised in statement of cash flow was T BERBERERBRZIEER
approximately HK$1,111,000 (2023: HK$1,129,000). &% H A E A B1,111,0008 T (ZF
=4 : 1,129,000/ L) °
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial

150

statements, the Group has the following balances and transactions

with related parties:

(a

(b)

Related party transactions
At the end of the reporting period, the Group entered into the
following balances with related parties:

2. FREALRS
BRI FHEEMBERR A I DARE

&5

AEFERBFEAEALHFEUT

BRRRS

(a

EREALXRS
R|EMK - AEEREMEA
THEA TGS

Amounts due to related parties

EREBEEATRE
2024 2023
—E-NE —_F-=
HK$°000 HK$’000
THET T T
Amounts due to minority shareholders, ERIERR - EFR
directors and shareholders 1% R K18 1,169 8,105
The amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be settled REBREBEAERMAREUR S
in cash. No guarantee has been given or received. B&E - Wi TRBEEMER -
Compensation of key management b) TEEBAEZHM
personnel
Remuneration for key management personnel, including 0 AR S B RS R R MY SE13 R 14F
amount paid to the Company’s directors and certain of the BE FEEBEABZEHEH (B
highest paid employees, as disclosed in notes 13 and 14 to ENFARAEERET&RSH
the consolidated financial statements is follows: BiiE & 2 F3E) T -
2024 2023
SN E — T =
HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FHETT
Short-term employee benefits HHEBERA 2,546 1,532
Mandatory Provident Fund contribution 08 Bl AR R 18 12
2,564 1,544
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33. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 33. HEWR 2 A

On 10 December 2015, the Group borrowed a loan from an
independent creditor of RMB200,000,000 with annual interest rate
at 10% and repayable in two years. The loan was secured by (i)
the entire shares of the Group’s wholly owned subsidiary, namely
Shaanxi Luoyuan Trading Co., Limited (“Shaanxi Luoyuan”),
which own 60% equity interests in Luo Nan Xian Da Qin Jia Mining
Company Limited (“Da Qin Jia Mining”) (“Deemed Disposal
Group”); and (ii) the corporate guarantee provided by a subsidiary
of the Group. The major asset of the Deemed Disposal Group is an
exploration right of a Potassium Feldspar Mine located in Shaanxi,
the PRC, which had been expired in prior years. The Group had
already made full provision of the exploration rights when expired.

Due to the liquidity position of the Group, the Group was unable
to settle the loan. The creditor then applied a to The Fourth
Intermediate People’s Court of Beijing (the “Court”) to go through
an auction process to sale the entire of equity interests of the
Deemed Disposal Group to recover the debts owned by the Group
(“Auction”). Accordingly, there was no consideration had been
received by the Group.

The Court granted the permission for the auction request and
during the year ended 31 December 2024, an independent third
party, being the bidder of the Auction, completed the auction
process and obtained the entire equity interests of the Deemed
Disposal Group, which was confirmed by the Court.

The directors of the Company obtained a legal advice and, in
the opinion that, upon the completion of the Auction which was
approved by the Court, the Group did not have control over the
Deemed Disposal Group and the corporate guarantee provided by
the non-wholly owned subsidiary was released.

R-ZZE—AFE+-A+8 A&£EEMA
BB A B AE KA R 200,000,000
T FMEEI10% 0 WARMENE
B RERNO)AEEZEKE R A
FEREEBERAR ([BRARR]) (X
REEMGERAEZHRBEERADA ([KEH
W) EHe0%RE) ([RELEER])
WEEHRMD  RNENEE—FHHE QT
RHEZAFEREAER - RIEHE
EENEEEERVATERRAN—E
HERABEORER  ZHEBEREDRA
CFEREM AEEERKBERER
WfEE 28 -

RAKENRBESRR  AKHE
EEEER - BRAZALERTS
PRARZER ([EB]) RFEETH
ERF LWHEGRFEHESENZH
AR EMBEAEEHEENE
HB(HE) - Bt > AEEALEW
BUEAE -

2
K
Y

ERBEREER  RBE-_F_-M
F+ZA=Z+—HILEFEAR " —&F
YE=ZTHENREATKBERFRF -
VTEREHEEHERENEHRAES
M ARG I8 T LARERR o

ARAREEFDRNR/RERAEZR  XRA/RN
AR HEMAE KK » AEEYLE
BRERELESRENZEGE MR
EMBARRHEODAERICH#HER -
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33. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 33. HEHEB 2T @)
The assets and liabilities of Potassium Feldspar Mine operations at HERABEGHNEEABZEERARE
the date of disposal were as follow: FEHI AT
HK$'000
FAET
Net assets disposal of: HEBEFE -
Cash and bank balances & RIRIT 4 87 254
Other receivables H U 1
Other payables H th FE 1 3K (21,692)
Other borrowings Hig & (303,562)
Group’s share of net liabilities disposal of AEERERGELEAEFE (324,999)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HEWNB AR Z W -
Group’s share of net liabilities disposal of rEEEGEHEARFEE 324,999
Consideration RE .
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB QR 2 W 324,999
Net cash outflow arising from disposal: HEEEZR &ML FHE
Cash considerations ReRE —
Cash and bank balances disposal of HEZRE RRITER (254)
(054)
34. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 3. FEFERERS
During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, other than RBEZZT-_MER-ZTE_=F+=A
as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, =+ —HIEFERN BRZEEEYH
the Group did not have any material non-cash transactions. MEREMIBOMPEEN  AEEBL

EXTWEXFREERS °
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 35. €@ I A
Categories of financial instruments STRMIASE
2024 2023
—E_MmEF —TZ=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHxT FHBT
Financial assets WHEE
Trade receivables & I BR X 45,145 116,001
Other receivables H fib B Uk 3k 41,889 12,346
Cash and cash equivalents RERBCEEY 15,247 5,941
At amortised cost Ei7g: F 1PN 102,281 134,288
Financial liabilities M aE
Trade payables JE 1F BR 3K 264,698 373,998
Other payables and accruals HEMmEMNZKKEETER 720,692 682,241
Bank loans and other borrowings RITERNMEMER 426,731 696,948
Lease liabilities HEBE 6,916 7,422
At amortised cost &8 8 A AR 1,419,037 1,760,609
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36. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s treasury department, including the board of directors

154

meets periodically to analyse and formulate strategies to manage

and monitor the Group’s exposure to variety of risk associate with

financial instruments which arise from the Group’s operating and

investing activities. Generally, the Group employs conservative

strategies regarding its risk management to ensure appropriate

measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner. The

risks include market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk

and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

(a) Market risk

U]

Foreign exchange risk

The business transactions of the Group conducted
during the year were mainly denominated and settled
in either RMB or HK$. The Group currently does not
have hedging policy in respect of the foreign currency
risk. However, management monitors the related
foreign currency risk exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency risk exposure
should the needs arise.

Based on the market condition at end of reporting
period, the Group determined that it is reasonably
possible for RMB to strengthen/weaken by 10%
against HK$ in the coming twelve months (2023:
10%). Hence, 10% are the sensitivity rates used in
the current year when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel and represent
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and based on the
assumption that other variables are held constant. A
positive number below indicates an increase in profit or
equity where RMB strengthens 10% against HK$. For
a 10% weakening of RMB against HKS$, there would
be a comparable impact on the profit or equity, and
the balances below would be negative.

North Mining Shares Company Limited Annual Report 2024

36. EMEEBEEEREEK

AEBEEBHMN (BIEEEE) THE
TeF  USWMEHIERBEERRE
ERERASECERREEBMELS
MIEZHEERR - —&WME &%
EnHERAREERAMBERE  BR
HRABMETRERE - ZZFERB

BEmEAR (BREEERR - FEE
B REMERRER) FERRRED

ExRER -

(@) WiEE K
(i) IhBE & B

AEBRFRNETZEBR
ZEEUARBE L ETFE
NiEHE - AKRERELES
BN R R 2 SRR o A
m- EEEEYEEAER
ZHEBINERR - XEBE
WEEEIHRERIINERR -

\ﬁiﬁiﬁZﬁﬁ'$
RAEANRE X T A 4
F$X+_MHﬂﬁ/hﬁ
10% (ZEZ=%F : 10%) °
Bt » RFEFERMEEEREA

8 A B & =) 1 & &, B B BT 5%
A28 E RE10% » REXE

BEYE R LR EBNE
ﬁZAE¥ﬁ°mﬁﬂ@?
DT BRIEAINE BB AL 2 R
ERNE®IER  BREME
ERBFTE - THEHEET
EE AR N B THEI%
Wam Ao Emzgme &
AR S B TEMBEI0% @ &

% B

=4

Mg aXB 2w e
BHRE - mIEHRERE
2 o



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

36. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

(@) Market risk (Continued)
()  Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

36. BREEBERBEK #)

(@) ™% E kR (@)
o) HERBR (M)

2024 2023

= LR —E-=F

HK$°000 HK$’000

FE T FAxT

Profit or loss' i ) X g A 64,005 25,728

Equity? HE 2 90,358 194,336

Notes: M &

(1) This is mainly attributable to the exposure outstanding (1) EZEREBRHFEHARIKUNU

on receivable and payable denominated in RMB at the
end of the reporting period.

) This is mainly attributable to the reserves which are
denominated in RMB included in equity at the end of
the reporting period.

(t©)] In the opinion of the management, the sensitivity
analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign
exchange risk because the exposure at the end of the
reporting period does not reflect the exposure during
the year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E = F —UF+=-H=+—HIFFE

36. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)
(@) Market risk (Continued)

156

(ii)

(iii)

Interest rate risk

The Group does not have material exposure to interest
rate risk, as the Group has no financial assets and
liabilities of material amounts with floating interest rate
except for bank borrowings. The sensitivity analysis
below have been determined based on the exposure
to interest rates for bank borrowings at the end of the
reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming
the financial instruments outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. A
50 basis points increase or decrease in interest rate is
used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2023: 50
basis points) higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss for the year
ended 31 December 2024 would decrease/increase
by approximately HK$348,000 (2023: approximately
HK$628,000). This is mainly attributable to the
Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable rate
borrowings. Changes in interest rates have no impact
on other comprehensive income for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: Nil).

Other price risk

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not exposed
to equity price risks as the Group did not have any
equity investments at the end of the reporting period.
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e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

36. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Credit risk

36. BREEBERBEK #)

(0) EHER

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due
to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is
arising from the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Trade receivables

Credit risk on trade receivable related to mining operation
is minimal because most of the transactions were made on
cash basis with no credit term given to its customers, except
for sizable customers and with good credit history with the
Group. The Group has applied the simplified approach in
HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance in respect of trade
receivables related to chemical operation at lifetime ECL. The
Group determines the ECL on debtors by using a provision
matrix, grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
by reference to past default experience and current past due
exposure of the debtors.

In respect of trade receivables from chemical operation,
individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations
focus on the customers’ past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customers as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customers operate.
Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial
condition of trade customers from chemical operation. Trade
receivables are due within 30 to 60 days from the date of
billing. Normally, the Group received certain sales deposits
from customers of chemical operation prior to delivery.
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e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E = F —UF+=-H=+—HIFFE

36. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 36. EREEEEREE (#)
POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued) b) EERK @)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Based on individual assessment for major customers and
portfolio assessment for other customers by the management
of the Group, the management has closely monitored the
credit qualities and the collectability of the trade receivables
and considered that the expected credit risks of them are
close to zero.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, for debtors
that are assessed collectively, the Group uses debtors’
past due status to assess the impairment for its customers
because these customers consist of a large number of
customers with common risk characteristics that are
representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts
due in accordance with the contractual terms.

B R ()
REAEEEEEHEIERFE
TR AR ES
ROTMEATE  EREREY
EEEURRNEEERRAK
BAERE - LRAANELEEA
RIETE -

ERAKSBEEERREEN I
7 BLER MG U AR
5 AKEEAERRERNES
MAFHEEREPHREXRF  F
RREEFPERAHRARRRE R
MAEEF  REFPREANK
RXNAAERHREANGENTE

2

BEBERKE -

TREKEBASERRNEK
RREERBRNEN - FHEEH
TBEREREBEREMG

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which are
assessed collectively based on provision matrix:

Average loss rate Gross carrying amounts Loss allowance

FHERE AREE BRERE

2024 2024 2023 2024 2023
ZE-mE SECME et "IN ek
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TR TER TR

Current SN 0.26% 0.72% 38,742 116,840 102 839
Over 180 days past due BEEB180H 27% 100% 8,943 1,646 2,438 1,646
47,685 118,486 2,540 2,485
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

36. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 36. AMREEEERBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)
The expected loss rate are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is AEH  WREBEEBEBZKARL
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is ARSI MATEEERMA
regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant B - EBETFTHRNAEBR

b) FEER &)
PR (4)
T8 50 5 18 70 AR B MR K R
CES PR AR R - R SR

information about specific debtors is updated.

The following table shows the movement of lifetime ECL for

trade receivables under the simplified approach:

A T 4R A B 5 R B 3 0 101 B
BRABFAR -

TRBEIBREBLETEAAENRE
WHEREHEREEBERENES) :

Lifetime ECL

(not credit-

impaired)

ZHEMEERSE

(BRiEERE)

HK$’000

FAT

As at 1 January 2023 R-—ZZE-_=F—HF—H 1,691
Impairment loss recognised, net EHERBAESETE 832
Exchange adjustments & & B (38)

As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZE_=ZF+-_A=+—8BXK

—E-MF—F—H 2,485

Impairment loss recognised, net ERERAMEREEFE 143
Exchange adjustments ME X 58 B (88)
As at 31 December 2024 R-E-_NE+=-A=+—H 2,540

Concentration of credit risk

The Group has no concentration of credit risk of the total
trade receivables which were due from the Group’s largest
customer and the five largest customers in both years.

Other receivables

The Group uses past due information to assess whether
credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition.
Based on the historical default rate, repayment history
and forecast of future condition on economy and debtors,
the directors considered the ECL for other receivables is
significant for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

IEHBERKOERAA 2024 FH
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e B IR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E = F —UF+=-H=+—HIFFE

36. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 3. AREBEBEEREE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) b) EERR (#®
Other receivables (Continued) Hip el (&)
The following table shows reconciliation of loss allowances TERETDEREOHE thERRE
that has been recognised for other receivables: BREEZHE -

At 1 January 2023 R-ZTE-_=F—HF—H 1,197
Impairment loss recognised, net BRI EREEFE 16,446
Exchange adjustments PEH AR (44)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZZE-_=F+=-A=+—8BX

—E-_mF—HA—H 17,599
Impairment loss recognised, net BRI EEIEFE 19,153
Amount written off as uncollectible 122 AR B8 (21,830)
Exchange adjustments e H & (517)
As at 31 December 2024 RZE-_WFE+=-_A=+—H 14,405
Cash and cash equivalents REeRESEEY
Credit risk on cash and bank balances is mitigated as HREFHARESR TEERINT
counterparties are banks or financial institutions with high FHBETEEETIRZRITX
credit rating which is issued by some international external CRIEE AR RBITES

rating agencies. ZIEERBELURIE -




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

36. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

36. EREEEERBEE (#)

POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of
cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer
term. The Group has net current liabilities of approximately
HK$1,407,027,000 (2023: approximately HK$1,520,388,000)
at 31 December 2024. In the opinion of directors, the
Group’s exposure to liquidity risk is limited as (i) the Directors
will strengthen to implement measures aiming of improving
the working capital and cash flow of the Group including
closely monitoring the general administrative expenses and
operating costs; (ii) the Directors will continue to source
additional funding to support the Group’s operation and
settlement of loans when they fall due; and (iii) the Group’s
mining operation has been resumed in October 2024 after
obtaining all the necessary approval certificate from the
PRC’s authorities. The Directors are in the opinion that the
Group’s mining operation will generate positive cash flow and
that will improve the overall liquidity position of the Group.

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at each of end of reporting period of the Group’s
non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payment computed using contractual rate or, if floating based
on current rates at end of reporting period) and the earliest
date the Group may be required to pay:

(c)

REE S R

ZK%.ZBZ?&%)EH;@EF%I/\//IL
BeFK  HBREBAVRSH
#H ENEHUESRHZLD
BEeFERk - RZTE-_WMFE+=A
f"f’ H $%.ZU\LE}UE{E\/¥
%8 4 /51,407,027,0005 7T (= &
— =4 : #91,520,388,000/% L) °
EERA  AKEEHHIRHE
RBER - BHROES N
BRERECLREAEBEEEES
FREEROER  BEZIER
—RIOTEAZREEREN : ()E
EREESKEIINES  UEZH
REBZERBEMNEBER  Kii)
BERRBEHEKEARESHAE LTI
EBRERAEENRBEBLE RN
T ETAMEESE - BEE
RAETEBENRBEBSEELLE
RER ERRSAEBENHERS
MBE AR -

TERHVWNAEBEFRTEH B AR
REREMARZEBENDNEE
o IREBFAOKRBBEBESRE
(BHERITHNNE KB ZELS
AR REE R ERMARTE
ZHMEXH) RAEEAETREE
NRZz2&FBHEME

2024 —E_NEF
Weighted  On demand or Total Carrying amount
average less than 3 months to undiscounted at 31 December
interest rate Tmonth  1-3months Tyear  Over1years cash flows 2024
it dd 13
=
EERe -fRZE AERRE =+-H
nE¥HRE  R-fiAR =fi8 BB-F REAE REf
% HKS'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS'000
% TR TR Tén TR TER Tén
Trade payables ERERN NATER 89,751 52,440 16,190 106,317 264,698 264,698
Other payables and accruals HbEAFRERER NATER 720,692 - - - 720,692 720,692
Bank loans and other borrowings BOERREAMER 13 364,734 2,75 49,774 18,304 435,567 426,731
Lease libilties HERE 12 2 66 1 7,162 1422 6,916
1,175,199 55,261 66,136 131,783 1,428,379 1,419,037
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E = F —UF+=-H=+—HIFFE

36. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 36. ABEREEERBEER (#0)
POLICIES (Continued)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) c) "RBESRAR (#®)
2023 —EC-=
Weighted  On demand or Total Carrying amount
average less than 3months to undiscounted at 31 December
interest rate fmonth  1-3months Tyear  Over1years cash flows 2023
g St
t=8
BEX iRz =iz AURRE =t-H
MEFHNE  R-EAR =fiR -  HBB-Ff B4R RHE

%  HKSO00  HKBOOD  HKSOOO  HKSOOD  HK§000  HKS000
% TAT TAL TET THT TET T

Trade payables EfE&R NATiER 219,617 15 17,779 36,587 373,998 373,99
Other payables and accruals HEAFREGER  NATER 682,241 5 = 5 682,241 682,241
Bank loans and other borowings R ATERREME R 1191 570916 1216 102,374 39,011 713577 696,948
Lease libilties HERE 12 24 74 193 9239 95530 742
1472,798 1,360 220,346 84,837 1,779,346 1,760,609

(d) Fair value of financial instruments d £RIAEZAY¥E
The directors of the Company consider the fair value of RARREZRR  AKEUKE
the Group’s financial assets and liabilities are not materially ENBBEZAFEHRENGESY
different from their carrying amounts as stated in the BARRABRAZY] 2 REHE L&
consolidated statement of financial position. BERER o

37. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 37. EXER
Capital includes equity attributable to the equity holders of BEABREARAERFEAARBG ZE
the Company. The primary objectives of the Group’s capital W AEBEAEECEFERRA

management are:

(@) To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going @ BWRASEEIZELE  HBER
concern, so that it continues to provide returns for fREREEDR  AEMESES
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; ABIER &

(o)  To support the Group’s stability and growth; and b)) XHAEERETER: K

(¢)  To provide capital for the purpose of the strengthening the c RBEBAUMBAEEZRARE
Group’s risk management capability. BEe s o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

37. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued) 37. EXERE (@)

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to ensure optimal capital structure and shareholder
returns, taking into consideration the future capital requirements
of the Group and capital efficiency, prevailing and projected
profitability, projected operating cash flows, projected capital
expenditures, and projected strategic investment opportunities. The
Group has not adopted any formal dividend policy.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by total capital plus net debt. The Group’s total capital
comprises all components of equity and net debt includes bank
loans and other borrowings, trade and bill payables, other payables
and accruals, less cash and cash equivalents.

The Group’s gearing ratio at 31 December 2024 and 2023 was as

AEBEERERARSREELEARAR
B BEREARBERBERD®ERE
KFE - A RARBEZARARERATK
REAXAYzm - BRRBEFENEE
BAHEERSRE  FEAELAHAXIMN
REAARBRERE - AKELHER
MEMEABREBE °

AEBNBEABGELE (ARAEFER
BRIAREARINER FHR) BERERRR -
AEBZBRERNB S A Em 2 AKE
o MABEFHEAINEERITEREE
fER - BNERRAERE - HMOEM
AREFHER MRASRBESEFE

AEBR-_ZT_MER_FT_=ZF+=
A=

follows: T—BZEARBELERNAT :
2023
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FE&x FAT
Debts 8& 1,977,418 1,876,815
Less: Cash and cash equivalents W EERREEED (15,247) (5,941)
Net debts BEFH 1,962,171 1,870,874
Equity = (570,868) (337,166)
Gearing ratio BAEAGBLE N/ARiE A N/AT & A
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E = F —UF+=-H=+—HIFFE

38. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 38.
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities

METHRMELEEREHKR

AEEREBEEHNEEESHHEN

164

can be classified as follows: T
Bank loans
and other Interest Lease Corporate
borrowings payable liabilities bond Total
RTERR
Hifg % EfFE HEa& tEES hy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THEL THL FAL TR
At 1 January 2023 RZE-=F-F-H 1,342,265 653,857 7,825 404,188 2,408,135
Cash-flows: Beme:
— proceeds —F5RE 97,764 - - - 97,764
— repayment — B (91,512 - (1,129) - (92,641)
— interest paid —BRFE - (9,295) - - (9,295)
Non-cash: ¥RE:
— interest expenses —HEH% - 128,448 898 2,847 132,193
— reclassify -BHNE 25,524 (1,643) - = 23,881
— conversion into shares -BRARS (659,191) (443,694) - (407,035) (1,509,920)
— exchange difference —ERES (17,902) (7,394) (172) - (25,468)
At 31 December 2023 and RZEZ=%+ZA
1 January 2024 =+-Ak-E-RE
—A—H 696,948 320,279 7,422 - 1,024,649
Cash-flows: Reme:
— proceeds -FBHE 38,693 - - - 38,693
— repayment - &N (89,512) - 1,111) - (90,623)
— interest paid -BERFE - (11,316) - - (11,316)
Non-cash: ¥RE:
— release upon disposal of foreign~ — HE G N B R Rl B K
subsidiaries (196,723) (106,840) - - (303,563)
— Interest expenses -HERX - 191,907 855 - 192,762
— exchange difference -ERES (22,675) (14,546) (250) - (37,471)
At 31 December 2024 RZZT-WEF
+t=B=t+-A 426,731 379,484 6,916 - 813,131
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 39. XRAHMBEMRRRFEERX

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
—E-_NMEF —E-=
T+ = A=+ —H [yl
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTER FAT
ASSETS BE
Non-Current Assets RBEE
Interests in subsidiaries R B AR ZHER - -
Current Assets RBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TBRRE - Ee kEBEKK - 1,065
Cash and cash equivalents RERBREEFEY - -
- 1,065
Total Assets EEHE - 1,065
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEAXRR#E
Share capital & 7 250,233 250,233
Reserves & (284,819) (353,430)
Total Equity B (34,586) (103,197)

IEHBERKOERAA 2024 FH
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E = F —UF+=-H=+—HIFFE

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 39. ARRAHMBEMRREFEER (&)
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

31 December 31 December
2024 2023
—E-MF —E-=%F
T = A=+ —H [l k=]
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FH T
LIABILITIES =R
Current Liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accruals HtENRREFTEH 13,969 11,884
Amount due to subsidiaries FESH B A B RIE 8,081 82,290
Bank loans and other borrowings RITERKREMER 12,536 10,088
34,586 104,262
Total Liabilities EEHAE 34,586 104,262
Total Equity and Liabilities EanRkEEEE - 1,065
Net Current Liabilities REBEEFE 34,586 (103,197)
Total Assets less Current Liabilities EERBERADAEE (34,586) (103,197)
Net Liabilities BEFE 34,586 103,197
The financial statements of the Company were approved and ARRMBRARCESFSENR _E-_AHF
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2025 “A=+—B#EREETE  ILH
and signed on its behalf by: THATHREESE
Yang Ying Min Qian Yi Dong
BEE 82K
Director Director
EF EZE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z = F —WF+ = H=+—HIFFE

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 39. XARUBMRRRFHEER (@)
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

A1 January 2023 R-F-z%5-3-A 373926 3,761,032 15615 95 (5624258 (1,371,790)
Loss for the year TEEEE - - - - (1653959 (1,653,950
Capital reduction he:)] (350,556) (3761932 4,112,488 - - -
Subscription of shares AR 5,128 34,872 - - = 40,000
Scheme Share Issuance HED: SR 2173 2,660,810 - - - 2882545

At 31 December 2023and 1 January 2024 R-E-ZE+-A=F-RE

“E-mE-R-H 250,233 2,695,682 4,228,103 995 (7,218,210) (103,197)

Proft for the year REERET - - - - 68,611 68,611

At 31 December 2024 W-F-ME+-A=+-8 033 2695682 4228103 05 (20059  (34586)
Note: The profit for the year ended 31 December 2024 were mainly arising Ma: B#@FE-—ZT-_mMF+=-_A=+—8H1t
from the waiver of amount due to subsidiaries due to deregistration of FEZEMNETEZEREANE 2 AR

the subsidiaries. SHIE M T A R AT MY B A R RUE o
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PRINCIPALS SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as

40. T ENB LT

ARBETEMBABZFHBMOT

follows:
Place of incorporation/  Registered capital/ Percentage of equity interests
Name of subsidiary establishment issued capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
KWEARER HRAL/ AL AMER/ERTRA ARABERARER DL TEXH
Direct Indirect
Ef k3
Sun Man Tai International (B.V.1.) Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary HK$274,051 100% - Investment holding
RERRES L@k 0514 T REAZR
Shanghai Yuan Bei Trading Limited PRC Registered capital = 100%  Investment holding
RMB30,000,000
LEREERER AT Gkt EMER REABR
AR 130,000,007
Shaanxi Province Luo Nan Xian Jiulong Kuangye - PRC Registered capital S 65%  Exploration and exploitation
Company Limited RMB90,000,000 of molybdenum mines,
(‘Jiulong Kuangye’) sales of malybdenum
concentrates
RELRBENEREARLA hE HMER HRRERABREE
(TheEmsl) A 90,000,0007 HER
Wealth Pioneer Group Limited BVI Ordinary USD50,000 = 65%  Investment holding
(‘Wealth Pioneer’) RERAKES T35 1R50,000% 7T REER
Anhui Tongxin New Material Technology PRC Registered capital - 51%  Research and development,
Company Limited (“Anhui Tongxin") RMB200,000,000 sales of chemical
products
ZEROHMHRBEERRA ME HMER BE - RERBEENER
([ZEED]) AR #200,000,0007C
fp 1L &R 5 4B B B 2 7 (‘Fushan PRC Registered capital = 100%  Sale of aluminium products
Shenyuan’) RMB26,000,000
BLREATHERRA ([HLER]) FE HMER HESER
AR 26,000,007

The above list contains only particulars of subsidiaries which
principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group.
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41. MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries
of the Group that has material non-controlling interests as at 31

December 2024:
Proportion of ownership
interests and voting rights held
Name of subsidiary Place of incorporation by non-controlling interests
FERBERAZEAA
WEARAR AL 4 BERRZELA
2024 2023
=t by T =
Jiulong Kuangye PRC 35% 35%
nERR e
Da Qin Jia Mining PRC Nil 61%
ARPE hE
Anhui Tongxin PRC 49% 49%
ZHRE L HE
Wealth Pioneer BVI 35% 35%

ERRAES

BEXRFERER
RZEZWMF+ZA=+—H " #HEHE
BERFEREEIAEEHEZEHEF W
BRAIFHERIWOT :

Loss allocated to non- Accumulated of non-

controlling interests controlling interests

IREFERBEEZER FERERZRR

2024 2023 2024 2023

CECME RS CZCF s

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TAT TER TAT

(158,592) (4188) (101,042  (129,995)
_ 70 - 212416
(118,205) (13079)  (491,8%5)  (379,615)
96,048 — (21,218) -

(180,749)  (127337) (614155  (297,194)

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s
subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests is set out
below. The summarised financial information below represents
amounts before intragroup eliminations as at 31 December 2024.

TXHINBBEEANFEEERNAKE
EMBRARIZHBENBER - UTH
EHBERNRBER_Z_WHE+_A
ST HAEEABHEMNZIERE -
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41. MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS M. EXRFEERER (@)
(Continued)
Summarised consolidated statement of financial NEEX - THEE L K Wealth
position of Jiulong Kuangye, Anhui Tongxin and Pioneer A —_Z_MW&E+ - H
Wealth Pioneer as at 31 December 2024 =St+—BZRESZEHBRR
&
Jiulong Anhui Wealth
Kuangye Tongxin Pioneer
hEEEE ZHE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FExT TERT FTER
Non-current assets FERBEE 987,542 154,125 -
Current assets MBEE 406,157 206,907 -
Total assets mEE 1,393,699 361,302 =
Non-current liabilities FERBEE (156,000) - -
Current liabilities TBAE (1,526,389) (1,364,899) (60,024)
Total liabilities BEE (1,682,389) (1,364,899) (60,024)
Equity T (288,690) (1,003,867) (60,024)
Non-controlling interests TR (101,042) (491,895) (21,218)
Summarised consolidated statement of profit or NEEXE - ZHE D K Wealth
loss and other comprehensive income of Jiulong Pioneer R —ZE_-_MF+ = A
Kuangye, Anhui Tongxin and Wealth Pioneer as ESt+—HZRESFREERZERH
at 31 December 2024 ft 2 [ W &= &
Jiulong Anhui Wealth
Kuangye Tongxin Pioneer
hEEEE ZHE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FTHET FTHT FTHT
Revenue WA 116,378 993,830 =
(Loss)/Profit before income tax BRETISE A (B51B)

Taxation i (533,209) (241,235) 274,424
Taxation fi18 80,089 - -
(Loss)/Profit for the year AEE (F8) w5 F (453,120) (241,235) 274,424
(Loss)/Profit attributable to Non- JEEREREMN (BE)

controlling interests e il (158,592) (118,205) 96,048
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41.

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

(Continued)

Summarised consolidated statement of cash

flow of Jiulong Kuangye, Anhui Tongxin and
Wealth Pioneer as at 31 December 2024

Net cash generated from operating

RELHAFREFR

41, EXRFERES (&)

NEREE - ZRELR

Wealth Pioneeri® —ZZE Z 4§
+TZA=1+t—HZREHKSH

EREXR

Jiulong
Kuangye

NBERR R
HK$’000
TERr

Anhui

Tongxin
ZHE D
HK$’000
THET

Wealth
Pioneer

HK$’000
FEx

activities 217,060 410 -
Net cash used in investing WEEEFMAR®

activities it (144,345) (2,923) -
Net cash (used in)/generated from & & &&) (FAA)

financing activities FIER& %8 (72,109) 7,164 -
Net increase in cash and cash RekReEEYE

equivalent IR 606 4,651 =
Cash and bank balance at FURE RBITES

beginning of the year 3,583 686 -
Effect of foreign exchange rate INEERBEINTE -

changes, net F R 4,356 (1,103) —
Cash and bank balance at end of & & 2 IR & K R 77

the year Fe 3 8,545 4,234 -
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41. MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 41, EXRFERES (&)
(Continued)
Summarised consolidated statement of financial hEEE  KEHBRZHE
position of Jiulong Kuangye, Da Qin Jia Mining DR-IBZ=ZF+=-A=1+—
and Anhui Tongxin as at 31 December 2023 AZRESREMBERRBE
Jiulong Da Qin Jia Anhui
Kuangye Mining Tongxin Total
TR K= HE ZHE D &t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FExT TER FER
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,283,132 - 112,454 1,395,586
Current assets REEE 66,749 264 272,010 339,023
Total assets BEE 1,349,881 264 384,464 1,734,609
Non-current liabilities FERBEE (253,993) - - (253,993)
Current liabilities REBAE (980,979) (436,505)  (1,122,271)  (2,539,755)
Total liabilities BEE (1,234,972) (436,505)  (1,122,271)  (2,793,748)
Equity W 114,909 (436,241) (737,807)  (1,059,139)
Non-controlling interests FEPE IR = (129,995) 212,416 (379,615) (297,194)
Summarised consolidated statement of profit or NEREE  KREZHBERZHR
loss and other comprehensive income of Jiulong BUORBE-—ZE-_=F1+=A
Kuangye, Da Qin Jia Mining and Anhui Tongxin E+-BLEEZREREE
for the year ended 31 December 2023 mRkEMEZEKER
Jiulong Da Qin Jia Anhui
Kuangye Mining Tongxin Total
hFEBWE REHE ZHE L a%
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TERT FExT TERT FTER
Revenue &= = = LA e e
Loss before income tax B P15 B AT B 18 (167,714) (194) (149,140) (317,048)
Taxation 18 12,891 - - 12,891
Loss for the year KEZEIE (154,823) (194) (149,140) (304,157)

Loss attributable to Non-controlling  3F %2 % 1 25 & (& &5 18
interests (54,188) (70) (73,079) (127,337)
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41.

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 41.

(Continued)

Summarised consolidated statement of cash
flow of Jiulong Kuangye, Da Qin Jia Mining and
Anhui Tongxin for the year ended 31 December
2023

Jiulong
Kuangye

NERTE

HK$’000
TERx

Net cash generated from operating 4% ‘& & B Ff 15

EXRFERES (80

NERE - KEHFBREZE
BORBE-ZT-_=%+=A
ST-HEFEZRHESRER

ERE

Da Qin Jia Anhui
Mining Tongxin
P32k | ZRE O
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FTHERT

Total
&t
HK$’000
TER

activities BeFHE 17,639 1,334 (24,226) (5,253)
Net cash used in investing HEESMA

activities HEFR (1,398) - (2,016) (3,414)
Net cash (used in)/generated from @& &S (FFH) /

financing activities Frigi & /558 (11,300) - 12 (11,288)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash RehBEEEEY

and cash equivalent #gm/ CRd) F8 4,941 1,334 (26,230) (19,955)
Cash and bank balance FYIRe RIBITHEH

at beginning of the year 6,205 267 4,801 11,273
Effect of foreign exchange rate SNEEXREBHTE -

changes, net F R (7,563) (1,338) 22,115 13,214
Cash and bank balances FRz2HAER

at end of the year IRITHE 3,583 263 686 4,532
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43.
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EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Litigation

Reference to the announcement is made on 3 January 2025, the
Company, /& k2 & ¥ 5 [R A 7] (Shanghai Cheng Long Shiyie
Company Limited), A # % & (L /8) B BR 2 & (Jiulong Investment
(Shanghai) Company Limited) and F /& # Bt (S B B R A 7
(Shanghai MingShen Corporate Management Company Limited),
being wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company in the People’s
Republic of China (‘PRC”), and Z B R L # M & Bt B R A
7] (Anhui Tongxin New Material Technology Company Limited)
(“Tongxin”), being a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
in the PRC, have received a civil complaint filed with the Shanghai
Financial Court by /8 & & & & % 12 4 [’ 2 7l(Shanghai Dingku
Asset Management Company Limited) (the “Plaintiff”) and a notice
to produce evidence issued by the Shanghai Financial Court, and
recently Shanghai Financial Court held an interview on 15 January
2025 at 9:00 a.m, and formally applied for this case under the
proceedings (2024) JE74E #17275% , with the hearing held before
the Shanghai Financial Court on 2 April 2025 at 9:00 a.m. The
subject matter relates to the failure to settle an indebted of the
principal of RMB300 million together with outstanding interest of
approximately RMB337 million being the alleged outstanding amount
owed by Tongxin to the Plaintiff under a loan agreement entered into
between Tongxin and the Plaintiff on 4 January 2018.

The Group is currently seeking legal advice and intends to dispute its
liability. As the litigation proceedings are still in early stage, the Group
will closely monitor the effects and impact of this litigation on the
Group.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31 March 2025.
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BEHRER

& R

BN -_ZB_HF-—A=HAEZ
Dff - ARE - EBREBEEEARA
A ABRKRE (LB BRQA - £E
HBECEEEARQR (RARRFE
ARKMNE ([HE]) W2EHBRF)
REZBRLHAMHBMEERQA ([H
] RRRRFENFEEEMNB LA
BEELIEBRBEEEEEEAERAA ([R
FEADREBEREREBENRESR
FUELEBERERBEHERRERER
WEM - RIE - EBERERER -
E_RAF-ATHEBLEFARERE
Kph it IE X B8 75 18 5 AR 9% (2024) B 74 R
Mrersk 2 2R ERF > ER_FT_AF
MA-ZREFARIER EBSRUERHF
E-TESREERLEREARC
E-NF-AEBEMITHERBZERER
TAREZEBASBEARBIME TR ARE
BRNEOARKIIVEL ZERER
ROEEBEERREANKEESS -

AEERESREZBRYRHEELEFE
RHEEZ - ARFMERBEFDER
MEER  AEESEDERFLY
REBZBRARTE -

HERSHBERR

HRAMBEBRRR_FT_RAF=ZA=1+—
REESafERRETE -



Summary of Financial Information
MR ERBME

RESULTS

E

For the year ended 31 December

BEZ+-—A=+—-HLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E_ME T —E-—F Z—ZET-_FTF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FHT FHT FHT FHET
(Re-presented) (Re-presented)
(FE7) (BE7)
Continuing operations BERSEER
Revenue Uy = 1,110,226 1,533,714 1,295,666 1,350,367 650,915
Loss from operations KR (461,561) (1,640,564) (105,864) (158,899) (3,178,476)
Finance costs BMEKAR (192,762) (132,1993) (140,030) (301,194 (323,098)
Loss before tax BRI E B (654,323) (1,772,757) (245,894) (460,087) (3,501,574)
Taxation B 80,089 12,891 (164) ) (179)
Loss for the year from AEEREREED
continuing operations BE (574,234) (1,759,866) (246,058) (460,096) (3,501,753
Discontinued operations DRIESEER
Gain/(Loss) for the year from R4 & B 48 |F 45 &
discontinued operations EBWE (BE) 324,999 ©) - 3,339 861)
Loss for the year rEEBE (249,235) (1,759,872) (246,058) (456,757) (3,502,614)
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ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERER

2024

—EComE

HK$’000

THET
Total Assets BERE 1,538,265 1,758,947 2,017,000 2,117,157 2,054,790
Total Liabilities BERE (2,109,133) (2,096,113) (3,523,078) (3,386,005) (2,867,785)
(570,868) (337,166) (1,506,078) (1,268,848) (812,995)

Equity attributable to: FEMh

Owners of the Company VN/NSIEZZ DN (43,287) (39,972) (1,326,499) (1,140,732) (800,347)
Non-controlling interests FEERE R (614,155) (297,194) (179,579) (128,116) (12,648)

(570,868) (337,166) (1,506,078) (1,268,848) (812,995)
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